
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Planning Applications 
Committee Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 1.30 pm Wednesday, 30 September 2020 

via Microsoft Teams 
 

 

 
In accordance with Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2020, this meeting will be held on a virtual basis. Members of 

the Public can view a live stream of the meeting at: 
https://www.darlington.gov.uk/livemeetings 

 
Due to the changes made surrounding meetings during the Coronavirus 
pandemic, please note the following changes to the Planning Protocol: 

 
a. That the Applicant may attend but will not be permitted to make a 

presentation to Committee, and just be there to answer questions. 
 
b. That, following the publication of the Agenda/Reports, the Applicant 

and Supporters/Objectors may submit a statement in writing up to 
1.30pm on the Tuesday prior to the meeting which will either be 
circulated to Committee Members or read out by the Planning Officer at 
the meeting. Any statements should be submitted to the Planning 
Services Team, Room 401, Town Hall, Feethams, Darlington, DL1 5QT. 

 
c. That people may approach their Ward Members (who are allowed to 

attend the meeting) and request that they put their views to Committee. 
 

 
1.   Introductions/Attendance at Meeting  

 
2.   Declarations of Interest  

 
3.   To Approve the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on 2 September 

2020 (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

4.   Introduction to Procedure by the Assistant Director, Law and Governance's 
Representative  
 

5.   Applications for Planning Permission and Other Consents under the Town and 
Country Planning Act and Associated Legislation (Pages 5 - 6) 

Public Document Pack

https://www.darlington.gov.uk/livemeetings


 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 (a)   182 Northgate, North Lodge, Darlington (Pages 7 - 22) 

 
 (b)   Vantage Point Site, Faverdale, Darlington (Pages 23 - 54) 

 
6.   SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM(S) (if any) which in the opinion of the Chair of this 

Committee are of an urgent nature and can be discussed at this meeting  
 

7.   Questions  
 

PART II 
 

8.   Notification of Decision on Appeals –  
 
The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services will report that, 
Inspectors, appointed by the Secretary of State for the Environment, have :- 
 
Dismissed the appeal by Mr Tim Wilks against this Authority’s decision to refuse 
permission for application for proposed residential development comprising 2 No 
dwellings and 1 No studio on the lower ground level and associated parking and 
communal storage area. at Land adjacent to 31 Pendower Street, Darlington DL3 
6ND (19/00695/FUL) (Copy of Inspector’s decision letter attached) 
 
Dismissed the appeal by Mr Pearson against this Authority’s decision to refuse 
permission for application for proposed removal of roof covering and internal 
alterations to form external terrace at Number One Bar, 1 Skinnergate, Darlington 
(19/00291/FUL) (Copy of Inspector’s decision letter attached) 
 
RECOMMENDED – That the report be received. 
 (Pages 55 - 66) 
 

PART III 
 

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

9.   To consider the Exclusion of the Public and Press –  
 
RECOMMENDED - That, pursuant to Sections 100B(5) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the 
ensuing item on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in exclusion paragraph 7 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the 
Act. 
 

10.   Complaints Received and Being Considered Under the Council's Approved Code 
of Practice as of 18 September 2020 (Exclusion Paragraph No. 7) –  
Report of Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services 
 (Pages 67 - 76) 
 

11.   SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM(S) (IF ANY) which in the opinion of the Chair of this 
Committee are of an urgent nature and can be discussed at this meeting  
 



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

12.   Questions  
 
 
 

     
 

Luke Swinhoe 
Assistant Director Law and Governance 

 
Tuesday, 22 September 2020 
 
Town Hall  
Darlington. 
 
Membership 
Councillors Allen, Clarke, Cossins, Heslop, C L B Hughes, Johnson, Mrs D Jones, Keir, 
Lee, Lister, Marshall, McCollom, Tait, Tostevin and Wallis 
 
If you need this information in a different language or format or you have any other 
queries on this agenda please contact Paul Dalton, Elections Officer, Resources Group, 
during normal office hours 8.30 a.m. to 4.45 p.m. Mondays to Thursdays and 8.30 a.m. 
to 4.15 p.m. Fridays E-Mail: paul.dalton@darlington.gov.uk or telephone  01325 405805 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
-1- 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, 2 September 2020 

 
PRESENT – Councillors Mrs D Jones (Chair), Allen, Clarke, Cossins, Heslop, 
C L B Hughes, Johnson, Keir, Lee, Marshall, McCollom, Tait and Wallis. 
 
APOLOGIES – Councillors Lister and Tostevin. 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE – Dave Coates (Head of Planning, Development and 
Environmental Health), Arthur Howson (Engineer (Traffic Management)), 
Andrew Errington (Lawyer (Planning)), Lisa Hutchinson (Principal Planning Officer) and 
Paul Dalton (Elections Officer). 
 

PA26 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 There were no declarations of interest reported at the meeting. 
 

PA27 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THIS COMMITTEE HELD 
ON 5 AUGUST 2020 
 

 RESOLVED – That the Minutes of this Committee held on 5 August 2020 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

PA28 APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION AND OTHER CONSENTS 
UNDER THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT AND ASSOCIATED 
LEGISLATION 
 

 A3 Implementation Limit (Three Years) 
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced not 
later than the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
Reason - To accord with the provisions of Section 91(1) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act, 1990. 

B4a The materials used in the external surfaces of the extension 
hereby permitted shall match those used on the existing 
building. 
 
Reason - In the interests of maintaining the visual amenity of 
the development in accordance with the requirements of Policy 
H12 of the Borough of Darlington Local Plan 1997. 

 

 
PA29 

 
9 GRANGESIDE, REDWORTH 
 

 20/00386/FUL – Erection of a single storey extension with pitched roof to the front 
elevation and a single storey extension to the rear elevation, alterations to windows 
and doors, removal of shed and decking and creation of level access to front, side 
and rear of property.  
 
(In reaching its decision, the Committee took into consideration the Planning 
Officer’s report (previously circulated), and three letters of objection). 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 
-2- 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
RESOLVED – That Planning Permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

1. A3 Implementation Limit (3 years) 
 

2. B4a (Materials) 
 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans, as detailed below: 
 

 6620 – 00 Rev A – Existing Site Plan 

 6620 – 01 Rev B – Existing Layout 

 6620 – 02 Rev A – Existing East and West Elevations 

 6620 – 03 Rev A – Existing North and South Elevations 

 6620 – 04 Rev A – Existing Block Plan showing Topography 

 6620 – 21 Rev F – Proposed Layout 

 6620 – 22 Rev E – Proposed East and West Elevations 

 6620 – 23 Rev E – Proposed North and South Elevations 

 6620 – 24 Rev D –Proposed Block Plan showing Topography 
 

REASON – To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with 
the planning permission. 

 
PA30 PROSPECT HOUSE, MIDDLETON ROAD, SADBERGE 

 
 20/00154/FUL – Demolition of existing conservatory and erection of two storey 

rear extension, erection of canopy over patio, alterations to rear porch roof and 
insertion of sun tube to main rear roof, demolition of outbuilding and erection of 
single storey annexe with mezzanine level (as amended by plans received 
09.07.20).  
 
(NOTE: This item was withdrawn from the Agenda at the outset of the meeting). 
 

PA31 182 NORTHGATE, DARLINGTON 
 

 20/00266/FUL – Conversion of building to provide 2 No. retail units (Use Class A1) 
and 24 No. apartments (Use Class C3) including demolition of delivery/goods bay 
to rear, erection of second floor extension incorporating mezzanine floor and 
pitched roof, creation of external amenity areas, cladding to elevations, bin 
storage, cycle provision, retail storage, access and delivery area and associated 
internal and external alterations. 
 
(In consideration of this item, the Committee took into consideration the Planning 
Officer’s report (previously circulated), the concerns of the Conservation Officer, 
five letters of objection, including one objection from the Friends of Stockton and 
Darlington Railway, one letter of support from the Campaign to Protect Rural 
England, and responses to questions asked by Members of the Applicant’s Agent 
during the meeting.) 
 

Page 2



 

 

 
-3- 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Councillor Johnson moved that the Officers recommendation contained within the 
report be approved, which was duly seconded.  
 
Councillor Wallis moved the following Amendment, which was seconded by 
Councillor McCollom: 
 
‘That Planning Permission be refused as the proposed development of this site by 
reason of its design and physical appearance would have a detrimental impact on 
the character and appearance of the Northgate Conservation Area and the setting 
of adjacent Grade II listed buildings, contrary to Policies CS2 and CS14 of the 
Darlington Core Strategy Development Plan Document, 2011.’ 
 
The Amendment was put to the meeting and was carried, and in doing so became 
the Substantive Motion. 
 
The Substantive Motion was then put to the meeting, and fell.  
 
RESOLVED – No decision was made, and therefore the item was deferred to the 
next meeting of the Planning Applications Committee. 
 

PA32 LAND TO EAST OF 15 HIGH ROAD, REDWORTH 
 

 200/00510/FUL – Change of use of land from open space to car parking area for 3 
No. cars and installation of parking grids (Retrospective Application) (Additional 
Plan received 19 August 2020). 
 
(In reaching its decision, the Committee took into consideration the Planning 
Officer’s report, four letters of objection, four letters of support, and responses to 
questions asked by Members of the Applicant during the meeting.)  
 
RESOLVED –  
 

1.   A3 – Implementation Period (Three Years) 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans, as detailed below: 

 
a) Drawing Number No 1 Proposed Eco Parking Grids for 15 High Road, 

Redworth 
 

REASON – To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with 
the planning permission 

 
PA33 NOTIFICATION OF DECISION ON APPEALS 

 
 The Director of Economic Growth and Neighbourhood Services reported that, 

Inspectors, appointed by the Secretary of State for the Environment, had :-  
  
Dismissed the appeal by Mr S Chivers against this Authority’s decision to refuse 
permission for an outline application for residential development comprising up 9 
No. dwellings with all matters reserved except for means of access at land at 

Page 3



 

 

 
-4- 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Cobby Castle Lane, Bishopton (19/01191/OUT) 
 
Dismissed the appeal by Mr Stephen Sanderson has appealed against this 
Authority’s decision to refuse permission for outline application for erection of 5 no. 
dwellings (with all matters reserved) at Land North West of New Lane, New Lane, 
Neasham, Darlington DL2 1QR (19/00834/OUT) 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received. 
 

PA34 TO CONSIDER THE EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

 RESOLVED - That, pursuant to Sections 100A(4) and (5) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the 
ensuing item on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in exclusion paragraph 7 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the 
Act. 
 

PA35 COMPLAINTS RECEIVED AND BEING CONSIDERED UNDER THE COUNCIL'S 
APPROVED CODE OF PRACTICE AS OF 19 AUGUST 2020 (EXCLUSION 
PARAGRAPH NO. 7) 
 

 Pursuant to Minute PA25/Aug/2020, the Director of Economic Growth and 
Neighbourhood Services submitted a report (previously circulated) detailing 
breaches of planning regulations investigated by this Council, as at 19 August 
2020. 
 
RESOLVED - That the report be noted. 
 

Page 4



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

BOROUGH OF DARLINGTON 

 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 

Committee Date – 30th September 2020 

 

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION 

 

Background Papers used in compiling this Schedule:- 

 

1)  Letters and memoranda in reply to consultations. 

2)  Letters of objection and representation from the public. 
 

 

Index of applications contained in this Schedule are as follows:- 

 

 
 

Address/Site Location 
 

Reference Number 

182 Northgate, North Lodge, Darlington 20/00266/FUL 

Vantage Point Site, Faverdale, Darlington 18/00694/FUL 

  

  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
COMMITTEE DATE:  30th September 2020   

 

 
 
APPLICATION REF. NO: 20/00266/FUL 
  
STATUTORY DECISION DATE: 3rd July 2020 
  
WARD/PARISH:  NORTHGATE 
  
LOCATION:   182 NORTHGATE NORTH LODGE 

DARLINGTON  
  
DESCRIPTION:  Conversion of building to provide 2 No. retail 

units (Use Class A1) and 24 No. apartments 
(Use Class C3) including demolition of 
delivery/goods bay to rear, erection of second 
floor extension incorporating mezzanine floor 
and pitched roof, creation of external amenity 
areas, cladding to elevations, bin storage, cycle 
provision, retail storage, access and delivery 
area and associated internal and external 
alterations 

  
APPLICANT: PURPOSE BUILD GROUP 2 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSON SUBJECT TO 
CONDITIONS (see details below) 
 

 
As no decision was made at the meeting of the Planning Applications Committee 
held on the 2nd September 2020 this matter has been deferred to this meeting for 
a decision. 
 
Application documents including application forms, submitted plans, supporting 
technical information, consultations responses and representations received, 
and other background papers are available on the Darlington Borough Council 
website via the following link:  https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=Q87WF1FPLK
B00 
 
APPLICATION AND SITE DESCRIPTION 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5(a)

https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=Q87WF1FPLKB00
https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=Q87WF1FPLKB00
https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=Q87WF1FPLKB00


 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1. The application site is a vacant retail premises (formerly Northgate Bedding 
Centre) situated within the Town Centre Fringe and on the eastern side of the 
A167 Northgate and on the northern side of the junction of Chesnut Street with 
Northgate.    
 

2. The building, which represents a mid-20th century redevelopment of the site, is 
flat-roofed and features extensive areas of glazing to the Northgate frontage and 
the front half of the Chesnut Street frontage. Whilst mainly two storeys in height, 
the rear part of the building is single storey.  
 

3. The surrounding area is a mix of commercial uses including shops, restaurants, 
hot food takeaways, offices, a cinema, a car repair garage; residential flats; and 
a Salvation Army hostel. Chesnut Street leads to a mixed light industrial area 
while on the western side of Northgate, behind the street frontage, lies North 
Lodge Park.   
 

4. The site is situated within the Northgate Conservation Area and within the setting 
of the Grade II listed United Reform Church and the associated forecourt railings 
and gate piers, situated immediately to the south of the application site on the 
opposite corner of the junction of Northgate and Chesnut Street.   
 

5. Planning permission is sought for the change of use, conversion and extension 
of the building to provide a mixed-use retail and residential development 
comprising the following: 
 

 Ground Floor: Two smaller retail units proposed to the Northgate frontage of 
the building, each with a floor area of 120m² (1,292 sq. Ft); and four 
apartments (1no. 2-bed and 3no. 1-bed); First Floor: eight apartments (3no. 
2-bed and 5no. 1-bed); and Second Floor: twelve duplex apartments (12no. 
1-bed), with the en-suite bedrooms provided within the roof space (2nd floor 
mezzanine). 

 External amenity areas to 16 of the 24 apartments (the four first floor 
apartments at the rear of the building (apts 8, 9, 10 &11) and the twelve 
duplex apartments (apts 13-24 inclusive), the latter being provided with 
external amenity areas at second floor level); 

 Cycle lockers and 7no. parking bays are proposed at the rear together with a 
delivery bay for the two retail units and bin storage areas.  

 Walls: Fine textured render (colour to be agreed), fibre cement dark grey 
cladding; Roof: Marley Modern dark grey concrete tiles; Windows & doors: 
Dark grey UPVC with opaque coloured panels where applicable; and 
Rainwater goods: Black UPVC downpipes, gutters and brackets; 

 Landscaping to rear parking area; 

 
6. The footprint of the building would remain as existing other than the single storey 

delivery/goods handling bay at the rear which is to be removed. The proposal is 
to extend upwards to provide an additional storey and a pitched roof to the 
building. The exterior of the building would be remodelled and revitalised with a 
pitched roof provided above the additional floor with the ridgelines of the roof to 

Page 8



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

be kept below that of the adjoining building to the north in keeping with adjacent 
property.  
 

7. Members may recall that this application was withdrawn from the agenda for the 
previous meeting on 5 August 2020 to enable the proposals to be considered by 
the Council’s Private Sector Housing Team.  This has been done and no 
objection raised to the proposal.  As set out in the Planning Issues section of this 
report, Officers are satisfied that matters relating to living standards within the 
proposed apartments can be dealt with by other legislation.  

MAIN PLANNING ISSUES   
 

8. The main issues for consideration are: 
 

a) Principle of the development; 
b) Impact on heritage assets; 
c) Scale, design and appearance and impact on visual amenity; 
d) Impact on residential amenity; 
e) Highway safety; 
f) Affordable Housing; 
g) Other matters. 

 
PLANNING POLICIES 
 

9. Relevant Local Plan policies include those seeking to ensure that new 
development: 
 

 Is located inside the development limits as defined by the Borough of 
Darlington Local Plan (E2, CS1 and CS10); 

 makes efficient use of land, buildings and resources, reflects the character of 
the local area, creates a safe and secure environment, and provides 
vehicular access and parking suitable for its use and location (CS2); 

 Protects, and where appropriate enhances the distinctive character of the 
borough’s built, historic, natural and environmental townscapes (CS14); 

 protects and, where possible improves environmental resources whilst 
ensuring that there is no detrimental impact on the environment, general 
amenity, and the health and safety of the community (CS16); 

 
10. Also relevant are saved Policy S9, which allows small new shops, limited 

extensions to existing shops, and class A2 services within the defined fringe 
shopping areas, and saved Policy T26, which advises that parking standards 
may be relaxed within the Northgate Fringe Shopping Area where a significant 
proportion of employees are able to use public transport or to ensure the 
retention of an existing building.   

 
RESULTS OF TECHNICAL CONSULTATION  
 

11. No objections in principle have been raised by the Council’s Highway’s Engineer, 
Environmental Health Officer, Northumbrian Water or the Local Lead Flood 

Page 9



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Authority.  The Conservation Officer has raised concerns regarding the impact of 
the proposal on heritage assets.  

 
RESULTS OF PUBLICITY AND NOTIFICATION 
 

12. Five letters of objection have been received, including one objection from   
Friends of Stockton and Darlington Railway, raising the following concerns:  
 

 Impact on character and appearance of Northgate Conservation Area; 

 Design of proposal does not have regard to nearby historic buildings; 

 Impact on setting of Grade II Listed Building; 

 Not in keeping with the North Road Rail Heritage Quarter; 

 Low quality scheme; 

 Too many houses in multiple occupation / overcrowded area; 

 No evidence that the apartments / communal areas can be well managed 
initially or in the future; 

 Too much pressure on already over-stretched infrastructure; 

 Why keep the shops as there are too many empty shops already; 

 Homes are very small which is not good for health and wellbeing of residents; 

 Not enough greenspace; 

 Anti-social behaviour due to lack of occupation of similar developments; 
 

13. Comments in support of the application state: 
 

 Design is deliberately contemporary and will be a spectacular feature in the 
Northgate Conservation Area; 

 Will visually improve important route into town; 
 

14. One letter of support has been received from Campaign to Protect Rural England 
stating: 

 

 the conversion of this redundant building would provide much needed high-
density housing in the town centre; and  

 It will contribute to the number of dwellings Darlington is expected to provide 
for, so pressure is taken off greenfield sites.  

 
PLANNING ISSUES/ANALYSIS 
 

(a) Principle of the development 
 

15.The application site is within development limits and the conversion of part of the 
building to residential apartments is acceptable in principle in the context of 
Saved Local Plan Policy E2 and Policies CS1 and CS10.  Appropriate alterations 
to the existing commercial element of the building is acceptable in principle 
subject to other development management considerations set out in the 
development plan. 
 

(b) Impact on designated heritage assets 

Page 10



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
16. The site is situated within the Northgate Conservation Area and within the setting 

of the Grade II listed United Reform Church and the associated forecourt railings 
and gate piers, situated immediately to the south of the application site on the 
opposite corner of the junction of Northgate and Chesnut Street.   
 

17. The Conservation Officer has raised no objections to the principle of the 
conversion of the premises to mixed use, however has objected on the basis of 
the impact of the proposed alterations on the significance of the Northgate 
Conservation Area and setting of the Grade II listed United Reform Church and 
the associated forecourt railings and gate piers.  
 

18. The Conservation Officer considers that the proposed alterations are not 
appropriate to the character of the area and would lead to harm to the setting of 
the listed buildings, citing the use of the render and cladding which would create 
a harsh contrast in the street scene, making the building more visually obtrusive 
and clearly visible within the sight lines looking from the north and south along 
Northgate.  The Conservation Officer also considers that the addition of the floor 
level increases this impact further, as the existing building is more subservient to 
the church and an increase in height would see this subservience eroded.   
 

19. The comments of the Conservation Officer have been considered carefully and 
discussions have been undertaken with the agent.  The existing building is a 20th 
century redevelopment which has no visual or architectural merit in itself and is 
falling into disrepair. The current flat roofed, 2-storey building also appears as a 
somewhat incongruous feature on a prominent, corner site, in between 
predominantly taller, 3-storey buildings.   

 
20. The proposed conversion scheme has been designed so that the proposed 

second floor of the building is set back from the existing frontages of the building 
and the mezzanine floor level is provided within the roof space, with the building 
still being of a lower height than the adjoining building to the north, so as to 
reduce any impact on the setting of the church.  It is considered therefore that 
views of the church when travelling along Northgate will not be affected to any 
significant degree, and views of the Church when travelling northwards will be 
largely unaffected.  Overall, with the limitations that the present building holds, it 
is considered that the proposed development has been sensitively designed 
such that the resultant building is of an improved appearance compared to the 
existing building.   
 

21. Taking into consideration the appearance of the existing building, whilst it is the 
view of officers that the proposal will have a slight positive impact on the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area, and will not adversely affect 
the setting of the listed buildings, taking into account the differing views of the 
Conservation Officer, and in line with the NPPF, if harm is found to be caused, it 
is considered that this would be ‘less than substantial’.  In this case the LPA 
must weigh the harm against the public benefits of the proposal, including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  In this case therefore, if harm is 

Page 11



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

considered to be caused, the agent has set out what are considered to be the 
public benefits arising from the development being;  
 

 Bringing a vacant building back into use; 

 Retention of two smaller retail units more likely to be attractive to prospective 
tenants; and 

 The provision of residential apartments in a sustainable location. 
 

22.  In this case, taking into account the visual appearance of the existing building, 
and the views of officers in terms of its limited impact on the Conservation Area 
and the setting of the listed building, it is considered that if ‘less than substantial 
harm’ is caused by the development, that on balance, this would be outweighed 
by the public benefits identified and that the proposal therefore does not conflict 
with Policy CS14 in this regard.   

 
   (c)  Scale, design and appearance and impact on visual amenity 
 

23.  Noting the consideration in terms of impact on designated heritage assets 
above, it is also considered that the impact of the proposals is acceptable in 
terms of its scale, design and appearance and impact on visual amenities.   The 
frontage to Northgate and Chesnut Street and the pallet of materials proposed is 
an appropriate response to the site constraints and will result in an overall 
improvement to the visual appearance of the building and street scene in which it 
is located.  It is recommended that a condition be attached to any approval 
stating that materials should be in accordance with those detailed within the 
application and securing submission and agreement of the colour of the fine 
textured render to be applied externally and specific details of the proposed 
limited area of landscaping to the rear. 

 
24. Overall, subject to the above conditions, the proposals are acceptable in respect 

of their scale, design and appearance and impact on the visual amenities of the 
locality such that they do not conflict with Policy CS14 or CS2 in this respect.  

 
   (d) Impact on residential amenity 
 

25. The site is within a mixed-use area with commercial being the predominant use. 
There are some properties nearby which have flats above shops to the west and 
north, with residential apartments at Northbeck House beyond, and given the 
existing building use, its redevelopment for a similar use with apartments above, 
is unlikely to impact on the residential amenity of these existing properties.   The 
main issues of residential amenity are therefore related to ensuring an 
acceptable level of amenity for occupiers of the proposed scheme and ensuring 
that any construction impacts are within acceptable limits given the presence of 
existing residential uses in the area.    
 

26.  A noise assessment undertaken by Apex Acoustics (2 June 2020 Reference 
7923.1 Revision B) was submitted in support of the application.  This involved 
the measurement of existing noise levels in three locations on the site, to assess 
the impact of road traffic noise on the proposed development, which is the 

Page 12



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

dominant noise source in this location.  The assessment also considers the 
impact of extract ventilation plant servicing adjacent commercial premises as 
well as noise from within the proposed retail premises on the ground floor.  
 

27.  The assessment concludes that with mitigation by way of a certain standard of 
glazing, installation of a specific standard of trickle vents, as well as a 
mechanical ventilation strategy, appropriate noise levels in accordance with the 
guidance can be achieved in internal spaces associated with the development 
and any adverse impacts on health and quality of life mitigated and reduced to a 
minimum.    
 

28. In relation to impact of the proposed retail premises associated with the 
development on the residential properties the assessment concludes that with 
specific construction of the separating walls and floors the agreed internal noise 
levels can be achieved in the residential areas. A proposed construction build up 
for both the separating walls and floors is put forward in the assessment.  
 

29.  In view of the above, the Environmental Health Officer has recommended 
planning conditions 12-16 (below) which aim to ensure the development 
incorporates the mitigation set out within the noise report in looking to protect 
residential amenity.   
 

30.  An air quality assessment has also been submitted prepared by Apex Air dated 
26 May 2020 (Reference 7923.2, Revision A). The assessment considers 
potential air quality impacts as a result of the construction and operational 
phases of the development as well as any impacts on the development itself 
from existing air quality given the introduction of sensitive receptors.  
 

31. The assessment concludes in relation to the construction phase of the 
development, with good practice dust control measures, the potential air quality 
impacts from dust generated during demolition, earthworks, construction and 
track-out activities are predicted to be not significant. Potentials impacts 
associated with the operational phase of the development (i.e. associated with 
increased traffic) are also predicted to be negligible and in relation to the 
proposals having the potential to expose future occupants of the apartments to 
poor air quality, pollutant concentrations were predicted to be below relevant air 
quality objectives across the development area. The assessment therefore 
concludes the site is considered suitable in this location from an air quality 
perspective. As there are existing residential properties in this area and given the 
conclusions of the submitted air quality assessment, the Environmental Health 
Officer has not objected on air quality grounds. 
 

32.  Also recommended are planning conditions requiring submission and 
compliance with a Construction Management Plan, that no external plant 
associated with the scheme shall be installed until a scheme to reduce noise and 
vibration has been submitted to the LPA and agreed in writing, and a limit on 
opening hours of the retail units to between 7:00 and 22:00, with any deliveries 
and waste collections limited to the same time period.   

 

Page 13



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

33. Subject to the above conditions, the proposal would have an acceptable impact 
on the living conditions of residents and would comply with policy CS2 and CS16 
in this regard. 

 
   (e) Highway Safety 
 

34.  The ground floor frontage is to be retained within retail use however the existing 
frontage would be split to create two smaller units of 120 sqm. Rear access to 
the units would be maintained with defined storage areas, commercial bin 
storage and defined delivery parking complementing the existing arrangements. 
Customer parking is available nearby both within defined on-street areas on 
Beck Road and within Garden Street cap park which is approximately 150m from 
the development. 
 

35. The application proposes at total of 24no. residential apartments, 20 of which are 
single bedroom and the remaining 4 being 2 bed units. This falls below the 
threshold for a formal transport assessment.  It is likely that this would produce 
around 10 vehicle trips in the am/pm peak hour and as such it is not considered 
sufficient to warrant refusal based on traffic impact. 
 

36. The Tees Valley Design Guide advises that generally parking provision should be 
based on 1.5 spaces per unit for flatted developments giving a theoretical 
requirement of 36 spaces. However parking provision may be viewed differently 
for town centre accommodation and areas which have good links to public 
transport or other alternative means of sustainable travel. It is proposed to 
provide the development with 7no. dedicated parking spaces, 12no. secured 
cycle lockers and a dedicated delivery bay for the two retail units. Based on the 
town centre fringe location and access to sustainable modes of transport the 
parking proposals are considered to be acceptable.    

 

37.  Frequent bus services are located nearby with both inbound and outbound stops 
on Northgate located within 100m walking distance of the site. A controlled 
pedestrian crossing facility is also with 50m of the site at a location that would 
otherwise be difficult to cross safely given the width of Northgate and the high 
traffic volumes during peak hours.  

 
38.  Overall, and taking the above into account, the Highways Engineer has raised 

no objection to the development on highway safety grounds.  The proposal is 
therefore considered acceptable and does not conflict with Policy CS2 and T26 
in this regard. 

 
(f) Affordable Housing 
 

39.  A proposal of this type would trigger a requirement for an affordable housing    
contribution.  As required by the Planning Obligations SPD, the developer has 
agreed that 20% affordable housing will be provided and that this will be dealt 
with by way of a planning condition. 

 
(g) Other matters 

Page 14



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
40.  One matter raised by objections is the size of the flats and the impact of living in 

such small spaces on the health and well-being of residents.  The flats are part 
of a high-density development with the provision of a choice of one and two 
bedrooms, all with living space and kitchen provided on an open plan basis.  
Whilst there is a demand for this type of living, particularly in central areas, the 
aim of the plan is to provide a good mix of dwelling type, size and tenure and 
there is no planning reason to suggest that the size of the apartments proposed 
would result in an impact on the health and wellbeing of residents who choose to 
live there.   

 
41. Nevertheless, whilst the internal specification of a proposed residential 

development may fall outside the direct remit of Development Management, all 
new and converted residential developments should have consideration of the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System to ensure they do not contain any 
Category 1 hazards which was introduced under the Housing Act 2004. Officers 
have sought advice from the Council’s Private Sector Housing Team and after 
liaising with the architect, the team is satisfied that the proposed conversion 
would meet the necessary standards in terms of space, natural light, fire and 
safety and sound transmission through a combination of the information already 
submitted, and through the requirements of the Building Regulations.  The 
Private Sector Housing Team has raised no objections to the granting of 
planning permission on this basis. 

 
42. A further matter raised by objection is a lack of greenspace.  Whilst it is 

acknowledged that the amenity areas of the flats are limited by the nature of the 
development, and that the proposal does not provide greenspace, the location of 
the development is such that the residents would have good access to local 
greenspace at North Lodge Park to the west and other local areas of greenspace 
beyond.  
 

43. The potential for anti-social behavior due to lack of occupation of similar 
developments has also been raised as an objection.  Whilst this is noted, there is 
no evidence to suggest that anti-social behaviour will increase as a result of the 
proposed development, and indeed, the aim of the proposal would be to have 
occupation of the ground and upper floors of the building which has the potential 
to reduce any anti-social behaviour in the vicinity of the building due to increased 
supervision.  Durham Constabulary has provided some advice in relation to 
measures to reduce crime, such as alarms, security standards for doors and 
security standards for cycle lockers, which has been provided to the applicant to 
consider in the development process. One matter raised by Durham 
Constabulary is a lack of defensible space to the ground floor apartments, with 
no clear boundary between the street and the residential units aside from the 
physical structures of the cycle stands and bin storage area.  It is recommended 
that a planning condition be attached to any approval relating to submission and 
agreement of boundary treatment to the rear of the building prior to occupation.   

 
PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 
 

Page 15



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

44. In considering this application the Local Planning Authority has complied with 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 which places a statutory duty on public 
authorities in the exercise of their functions to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION  
 

45. The proposed development complies with the relevant policies in the 
development plan.  Subject to the proposed conditions the development would 
be acceptable in respect of highway safety and residential and visual amenity 
and would not harm the setting of heritage assets.  It is therefore recommended 
that: 

 
PLANNING PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS: 

 
1. A3 Implementation Limit 3 Years 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plan(s) as detailed below: 
 
L019034 – 000 Location and Block Plan 
L019034 – 100 Proposed ground floor plan 
L019034  - 101 Proposed first floor plan 
L019034  - 102 Proposed second floor plan 
L019034 – 103 Proposed second floor mezzanine plan 
L019034 – 104 Proposed Elevations and section 
L019034  - 105 Proposed bin and cycle store 
L0190354 – 106 Site Location Plan 

 
REASON – To define the consent 
 

3. All external materials, including rainwater goods and roof materials, shall be as 
specified in the drawings referenced in condition 2 of this approval, unless 
otherwise agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON – To ensure that the external materials are suitable for the conversion 
works proposed in the interests of their impact on heritage assets and the visual 
amenities of the locality. 

 
4. Prior to the application of the fine textured render to the external surfaces of the 

building, details of the colour of the render shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON - To ensure that the external materials are suitable for the conversion 
works proposed in the interests of their impact on heritage assets and the visual 
amenities of the locality. 

Page 16



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
5. E2 Landscaping 

 
6. The development shall not begin until a scheme for the provision of affordable 

housing as part of the development has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The affordable housing shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the definition of affordable 
housing in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy  Framework or any future 
guidance that replaces it. The scheme shall include: 
 
a) the numbers, type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable housing 
provision to be made, which shall consist of not less than 20% of housing units; 
b) The timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its phasing in 
relation to the occupancy of the market housing; 
c) The arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an affordable 
housing provider [or the management of the affordable housing] (if no RSL 
involved); 
d) The arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first and 
subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and 
e) The occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the 
affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be 
enforced. 

 
REASON – To comply with Council Housing Policy. 
 

7. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, details of boundary 
treatment to the rear of the ground floor flats, shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed boundary treatment shall 
be in place prior to occupation of the development and shall be retained as such 
thereafter.   
 

REASON  - In the interests of residential amenity. 
 
8. No noise emitting fans, louvres, ducts or other external plant associated with this 

permission shall be installed until a scheme to reduce noise and vibration has 
been submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
    REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

9. The opening hours of the retail unit(s) shall be limited to 07.00-22.00. 
 
    REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

10. Times for deliveries and waste collections to the retail units shall be limited to 
07.00-22.00. 

 
   REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

11.  Construction and demolition work shall not take place outside the hours of 08.00 

Page 17



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

- 18.00 Monday - Friday, 08.00 -14.00 Saturday with no working on a Sunday 
and Bank/Public Holidays without the prior written permission from the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
12.  Prior to the commencement of the development, a site-specific Demolition and 

Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall include the following, unless the 
Local Planning Authority dispenses with any requirement[s] specifically and in 
writing: 

 
a) Dust Assessment Report which assesses the dust emission magnitude, the 
sensitivity of the area, risk of impacts and details of the dust control measures 
to be put in place during the demolition and construction phases of the 
development. The Dust Assessment Report shall take account of the 
guidance contained within the Institute of Air Quality Management “Guidance 
on the assessment of dust from demolition and construction” February 2014. 

 
b) Methods for controlling noise and vibration during the demolition and 
construction phase and shall take account of the guidance contained within 
BS5228 “Code of Practice for noise and vibration control on construction and 
open sites” 2009. 

 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise in complete accordance with 
the approved Plan. 

 
REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
13. The mitigation measures/minimum façade sound insulation provisions (glazing 

performance, trickle vent performance, ventilation strategy) as detailed within 
Table 1 of the Noise impact assessment by Apex Acoustics dated 2 June 2020 
(Reference: 7923.1 Revision B) shall be implemented in full prior to the first 
occupation of the apartments, and thereafter shall be retained and maintained for 
the life of the development. No changes to mitigation proposals shall be made 
without the prior written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
14. Notwithstanding the mitigation measures outlined in the Noise impact 

assessment by Apex Acoustics dated 2 June 2020 (Report Number: 7923.1 
Revision B), prior to installation precise details of the window glazing as well as 
any acoustic trickle vents to be installed as part of the development (including 
their acoustic performance) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
15. The mitigation outlined in the Noise impact assessment by Apex Acoustics 

Page 18



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

dated 2 June 2020 (Report Number: 7923.1 Revision B) in relation to the wall 
and floor construction (separating elements) between the retail units and 
residential apartments shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of 
the apartments. No changes to the proposals shall be made without the prior 
written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
16. At the reasonable request of and/or following a complaint from residents of the 

proposed development to the Local Planning Authority, the applicant shall 
employ a suitably qualified acoustic consultant to carry out an assessment of 
noise from the retail units on the residential apartments. The sound insulation 
testing shall be in accordance with the methodology in BS EN ISO 16283-1:2014 
(airborne sound insulation) and BS EN ISO 16283-2:2018 (impact sound 
insulation) and the scope and methodology to be used in the assessment shall 
be agreed in advance with the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority compliance with 
NR17 inside the residential apartments. If this is not the case, suitable mitigation 
measures shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority including a timescale for implementation. 

 
REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
17. Notwithstanding the mitigation measures outlined in the Noise impact 

assessment by Apex Acoustics dated 2 June 2020 (Report Number: 7923.1 
Revision B), prior to the installation of any mechanical ventilation strategy, 
precise details of the system(s) to be installed shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include an 
assessment of noise and overheating to determine an appropriate strategy with 
windows closed. It shall be shown to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority that the internal noise levels associated with any mechanical units and 
associated ductwork linked to the system, as well as when combined with other 
noise sources shall not exceed relevant guidance levels in living rooms and 
bedrooms. The assessment(s) shall be carried out taking into account the 
Association of Noise Consultants and Institute of Acoustics ‘Acoustics Ventilation 
and Overheating: Residential Design Guide, January 2020, Version 1.1.’ and any 
associated guidance. The system(s) shall be installed prior to the first occupation 
of the apartments and in accordance with approved plan and thereafter shall be 
retained and maintained for the life of the development. 

 
REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
INFORMATIVES 
Prior to the commencement of the development the applicant is advised that contact be 
made with the Assistant Director : Highways, Design and Projects (contact Mrs. P. 
McGuckin 01325 406651) to discuss naming and numbering of the development. 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



(Teachers' Centre)

1
5

1

1
8

3
1

8
9

TCB

N
O

R
T

H
G

A
T

E

1
8

2

Army

Scrap Yard

1
5

1
a

16
5

to
16

9
1

6
3

1
5

5

L B

1
9

2
1

9
6

Citadel

21
2

to
2

14

3 9

Mews

1 to 11

JO
H

N
D

O
B

B
IN

R
O

A
D

Chesnut House

1
8

1
1

5
7

1
8

5

1
9

1

Shelter

2
0

1

Salvation

2
1

8
t

o

Posts

216

Church

1

1 to 14

Cinema

B
E

C
K

R
O

A
D

Garage

North Lodge

E
lS

u
b

S
ta

1
9

3

1
4

3

1
4

5
1

4
9

1
8

7

1

1
5

6

168
to

17
6

Shelters

2
0

4

46.9m

1
0

WOOLER STREET

2

1
4

7

2
0

3

43.0m

206
to

2
10

1
a

Works

1
6

1

1
5

3

Northbeck House

OXFORD STREET

E
E

T

1
5

9

45.1m

1
9

0

1
9

8

Oxford Street

Wareh

PLANNING REF No: 20/00266/FUL

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

© Crown copyright.  All Rights Reserved.  Licence Number 100023728.  2020

SCALE 1:1000
.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
COMMITTEE DATE:  30 September 2020   

 

 
 
APPLICATION REF. NO: 18/00694/FUL 
  
STATUTORY DECISION DATE: 31 July 2020 
  
WARD/PARISH:  BRINKBURN AND FAVERDALE 
  
LOCATION:   Former Vantage Point Site, Faverdale 

Faverdale Industrial Estate 
  
DESCRIPTION:  Erection of a  1,900sqm (GIA) supermarket (A1 

use), 1,900 sqm (GIA) retail store (A1 use) and 
a 167sqm (GIA) and drive-thru unit (A1/A3 use) 
with associated parking for 263 cars, ancillary 
service and delivery areas, landscaping and 
new access (amended Planning Policy 
Statement and Retail Policy Statement 
received 29 November 2018, additional 
Sequential Test document received 5 February 
2019; additional Employment Land Viability 
Report received 30 April 2019;; amended plans 
received 31 May 2019; drainage information 
received 29 August 2019; additional Retail 
Impact Assessment received 26 September 
2019 and Retail Assessment information 
received 14 May 2020 ; amended drainage 
information received 28 May 2020 and 8th July 
2020) 

  
APPLICANT: Hansteen Land Ltd 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION FOR THE FOLLOWING 
REASON:  
 
In the opinion of the local planning authority, the planning application has failed to 
demonstrate that there would be no significant adverse impact on the viability and 
vitality of Cockerton District Centre. The local planning authority consider that the 
proposal is contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (paragraphs 88 
and 89) and Saved Policy S10 (Safeguarding the District and Local Centres) of the 
Borough of Darlington Local Plan 1997 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5(b)



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Application documents including application forms, submitted plans, supporting 
technical information, consultations responses and representations received, 
and other background papers are available on the Darlington Borough Council 
website. 
 
APPLICATION AND SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
1. The application site measures 1.89 hectares on the south western edge of 

Faverdale Industrial Estate. The site is bound to the north, east and south by units 
and land that forms part of the Industrial Estate and residential dwellings on 
Faverdale Road to the west. A mature landscaped strip of trees and hedges 
separates the application site from the residential units. The application site is 
currently vacant. 

 
2. This is a detailed planning application comprising: 

 
a) A 1,900sqm (GIA) supermarket (A1 use) (Lidl) 
b) A1,900 sqm (GIA) retail store (A1 use); (Home Bargains) and  
c) A 167sqm (GIA) and drive-thru unit (A1/A3 use) (Starbucks) 

 
3. The planning application states that the opening and delivery times for the three 

units will be: 
 

Opening Times: 

 Supermarket – 0800 to 2200 Monday to Saturday (including Bank Holidays) 
and 1000 to 1600 on Sundays 

 Retail store – 0800 to 2200 Monday to Saturday (including Bank Holidays) and 
1000 to 1600 on Sundays 

 Drive Thru Unit – 24 hours a day, seven days a week 
 
Delivery times 

 Supermarket – 0600 to 2200 Monday to Saturday; 1000 to 1800 on Sundays 
and 0800 to 1800 on Bank Holidays 

 Retail Store - 0600 to 2200 Monday to Saturday; 1000 to 1800 on Sundays and 
0800 to 1800 on Bank Holidays 

 
4. The intention is that all three units will be built out but in phases once the land has 

been remediated and the main access road has been constructed. The Drive Thru 
would be constructed first followed by the supermarket and then the retail store but 
events may allow for one occupier to go ahead of another or simultaneously with 
one another. 
 

5. The scheme includes the provision of parking spaces for 263 cars throughout the 
site, ancillary service and delivery areas, landscaping and a new access off 
Faverdale, the main estate road leading from the roundabout junction with West 
Auckland Road (A68). 
 

6. It is estimated by the applicant, that the proposed development would create 130 
full time and part time jobs. 

Page 24



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
7. The applicant’s overall land ownership extends over a larger 3.98 hectares, which 

includes the application site. At this time, there are no firm plans in place for the 
remainder of the wider site and they do not form part of this planning application. 
 

8. The application site and the wider site has been the subject of an outline planning 
permission in 2015 (see Planning History) for the erection of a food store (up to 
4225sqm) and a petrol filling station. This permission has subsequently expired. 
 
Statement of Community Involvement 
 

9. Due to time constraints placed upon the applicant to submit of the planning 
application, the applicant was unable to carry out a formal pre-application 
consultation exercise with local residents and appropriate interested parties and 
stakeholders in accordance with the Council’s adopted Statement of Community 
Involvement document. However, engagement did occur with Ward Councillors and 
Council officers at that time. Since the submission of the application the scheme 
has been reported in the local press, the applicant has carried out a number of 
leaflet drops in the local area, presented a social media campaign and also made a 
presentation to Members of the Council. 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment Requirements 
 

10. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposal against the Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. It is the 
opinion of the Local Planning Authority, that the proposal is development for which 
an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required as the development, subject 
to mitigation measures, would not be likely to have significant effects on the 
environment by virtue of factors such as its nature, size or location. 
 
MAIN PLANNING ISSUES  
 

11. The larger site, which is within the ownership of the applicant, was subject to an 
outline planning application (ref no: 14/01043/OUT) which was granted permission 
in August 2015. The permission related to the erection of a food store (Use Class 
A1) up to 4225 sq. m and petrol filling station (Sui Generis) with associated car 
parking, servicing arrangements with home shopping provision and hard and soft 
landscaping. As stated above, this permission was now lapsed. 
 

12. The main issues that to be considered here is whether the proposed development 
is acceptable is the following terms: 
 
a) Employment Land Policy  
b) Retail Planning Policy 
c) Economic Impacts 
d) Environmental Considerations 
e) Design and Layout and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
f) Residential Amenity  
g) Highways Matters  

Page 25



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

h) Ecology  
i) Trees and Landscaping 
j) Flood Risk 
k) Air Quality 
l) Land Contamination 
m) Archaeology  
n) Planning Obligations  

 
PLANNING POLICIES 
 

13. The application site is within the developments limits for the urban area and 
therefore the principle of the proposal would accord with saved policy E2 
(Development Limits) of the Borough of Darlington Local Plan 1997and policy CS1 
(Darlington’s Sub Regional Role and Location Strategy) of the Darlington Core 
Strategy Development Plan Document 2011.Therefore, the relevant Local Plan 
policies for this application include those listed below: 
 

 Existing viable employment sites and other sites with special attributes will be 
protected by safeguarding them for employment uses or for mixed uses where 
appropriate subject to certain exemptions being met (Policy CS5 of the Core 
Strategy 2011) 

 Any additional comparison retail goods development should not undermine any 
retail schemes and proposals at Commercial Street, and is accommodated 
within the primary shopping area of the town centre or in physically and 
functionally integrated extensions to it (Policy CS8 of the Core Strategy 2011) 

 Any convenience retail development should be located within existing centres 
and where it will remedy qualitative local deficiencies in the geographical 
distribution of food shopping including areas of new residential development. (It 
should be noted that the requirement set out in Policy CS8 does not represent 
an up to date assessment of retail need in the Darlington administrative area, 
given that the Darlington Retail and Town Centre Study reported in September 
2104, and a further Retail Study Update reported in November 2017). 

 The hierarchy of centres in the Borough will be taken into account when 
considering the appropriateness of proposals for development (Policy CS9 of 
the Core Strategy 2011) 

 The Council will safeguard and enhance the vitality and viability of the district 
and local centres in the Borough and, in particular, will safeguard their role for 
food shopping.  The development which would undermine the vitality and 
viability of district and local centres will not be permitted. (Saved Policy S10 of 
the Local Plan 1997) 

 Shopping development, including new food supermarkets up to 2,500 sqm 
gross floorspace will be permitted within and immediately adjacent to the 
defined district and local centres provided that they are physically integrated 
with and have good pedestrian links with the rest of the centre. (Saved Policy 
S11 of the Local Plan 1997) 

 New development should provide vehicular access and parking suitable for its 
use and location (CS2 of the Core Strategy 2011) 

Page 26



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 New development should be within a sustainable location and accessible by 
various modes of transport, pedestrians and disabled persons (CS2 of the Core 
Strategy 2011) 

 New development should protect the general amenity and health and safety of 
local community (CS16 of the Core Strategy 2011) 

 New development should reflect or enhance Darlington’s distinctive nature; 
create a safe and secure environment; create safe, attractive, functional and 
integrated outdoor spaces that complement the built form; and relate well to the 
Borough’s green infrastructure network (CS2 of the Core Strategy 2011) 

 New development should not result in any net loss of existing biodiversity value 
by protecting and enhancing the priority habitats, biodiversity features and the 
geological network through the design of new development, including public and 
private spaces and landscaping (Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy 2011)  

 New development should be focussed on areas of low flood risk (Flood Zone 1) 
and it should comply with national planning guidance and statutory 
environmental quality standards relating to risk from surface water runoff, 
groundwater and sewer flooding (Policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 2011) 

 New development should take full account of trees and hedgerows on and 
adjacent to the development site. The layout and design of the development 
should wherever possible avoid the need to remove trees and hedgerows and to 
provide their successful retention and protection during development (Saved 
Policy E12 of the Local Plan 1997) 

 Proposals for development will be required to incorporate appropriate hard and 
soft landscaping which has regard to the setting of the development in its form, 
design and plant species, and which enhances the appearance of the 
development and its setting (Saved policy E14 of the Local Plan 1997) 

 New development should secure the necessary physical, social and 
environmental infrastructure requirements to be delivered by planning obligations 
and a Section 106 Agreement (policy CS4 of the Core Strategy 2011 

 
14. Paragraphs 85 – 90 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 which 

considers the vitality of town centres are relevant  
 
Other relevant documents: 

 Darlington Town Centre Strategy 2019 - 2030 

 Supplementary Planning Document on Design for New Development 

 Supplementary Planning Document on Planning Obligations 
 
RESULTS OF TECHNICAL CONSULTATION  

15. No objections have been raised to the principle of the proposed development by the 
Council’s Highways Engineer, Environmental Health Manager, Environmental 
Health Officer, Ecology Officer, Sustainable Transport Officer and Senior 
Arboricultural Officer subject to the imposition of appropriate planning conditions, if 
the application is approved 
 

16. There are no objections from the statutory bodies that have been consulted on the 
planning application, subject to the imposition of planning conditions 
 

Page 27



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

17. Following the submission of a revised Flood Risk Assessment in July 2020, the 
Lead Authority has no objections to the proposed development subject to the 
imposition of planning conditions, if the application is approved. 
 
RESULTS OF PUBLICITY AND NOTIFICATION 
 

18. The Local Planning Authority issued 441 consultation letters and erected four 
Site Notices when the planning application was received along with a press 
advert in the local newspaper. Subsequently, consultations on amended and 
additional plans and information have been have continued to be carried out by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 

19. Seventeen letters of objection have been received and the comments can be 
summarised as follows: 
 

 Noise pollution 

 Traffic congestion 

 Impact on viability of existing retail and food outlets  

 Road safety issues 

 Antisocial behaviour and litter  

 Soil pollution and contaminated land 

 Adverse impact on shops in the town centre 

 Home Bargains is not required 

 Late night sale of alcohol 

 Starbucks not required in a residential area 

 A petrol station is required 

 Increase in traffic noise 
 

20. Darlington Friends of the Earth has objected to the planning application on highway 
safety and traffic congestion grounds and the site is not in a sustainable location 
 

21. The Campaign to Protect Rural England has objected to the planning application. 
They support existing and proposed Local Plan policies which safeguard sites in 
existing employment areas for business use class and they are concerned about 
the amount of greenfield countryside proposed to be allocated in the Local Plan for 
business class development at Faverdale especially when there is a supply of 
available vacant brownfield and other land with existing allocations. The CPRE has 
noted that Darlington Retail and Town Centre Study Update 2017 concludes that 
there is no requirement for addition convenience/food shopping floor space in the 
Borough and they consider there is no need for another food store in this part of the 
town. They also agree with the Study which concludes that all additional 
comparison retail floor space should be accommodated in the town centre at 
Commercial Street. The proposed Drive Thru is not considered appropriate for this 
location would create additional car trips and would be unsustainable, contrary to 
national and local policy 
 

22. Letters of objection have been received from Bussey and Armstrong and Estill 
Cooper who have constructed the West Park development which includes housing 

Page 28



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and food retail outlets. The letters conclude that the proposals are wholly contrary 
to national and local planning policy guidance, there is a surplus of existing 
convenience and comparison floor space within Darlington in quantitative terms; 
whilst some of additional demand for comparison goods provision might arise in the 
longer term, this must be treated with caution; the Council has in any event shown 
that there is scope to meet the qualitative demand for additional comparison goods 
within the town centre; the applicant has failed to acknowledge the potential 
allocated site at Commercial Street which is clearly sequentially preferable and 
could accommodate the proposed development and the proposal alongside other 
commitments will result on significance adverse impacts and the applicant’s 
submissions underestimate the true effects of these. 
 

23. Letters of objection, submitted on behalf of Hillesden Trust, which owns the retail 
premises known as Whessoe Retail Park conclude the proposals involves the loss 
of an allocated employment site without robust justification for doing so. It is evident 
that the applicant’s long term plan is for the creation of a new District Centre at the 
site but this should be planned for via the plan making process, if it is required; the 
applicants must demonstrate that they have robustly addressed the requirements of 
local and national policy with regards to town centre uses in out of town centre 
locations. The scope of the sequential assessment is deficient in that the applicants 
have failed to justify their area of search and have not demonstrated sufficient 
flexibility when considering alternative sites. As a consequence, they have failed to 
consider the available and suitable site at Whessoe Park which lies within a defined 
District Centre; granting planning permission would undermine the objectives of the 
Development Plan policy to safeguard North Road District Centre for food and other 
day to day shopping needs, in conflict with the town centre first approach of national 
planning policy. Planning permission should be refused. The Retail Park is available 
and, on the market, and should be considered by the applicant and the Council as 
part of the sequential test process. 
 

24. Letters of objection have been submitted on behalf of the Cooperative Group 
Limited raising questions over the validity, methodology and findings of the various 
retail impact assessments submitted by the applicant in support of the planning 
application. The last objection concludes that they stand by the conclusions of their 
previous submissions: that the application is contrary to saved Policy S10 of the 
Darlington Local Plan, Policy CS9 of the Darlington Core Strategy and paragraph 
89 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
 

25. Eighty five letters of support and representation have been received and the 
comments can be summarised as follows: 
 

 The site has been vacant for far too long and needs to be brought into use 

 Retail provision at the West End of Darlington has kept pace with the population 
increase and any additional provision should be welcomed. 

 This area of Darlington would benefit from more choice and availability of retail 
outlets  

 People will be able to shop without having to travel to Cockerton; towards the 
town centre; Yarm Road or Morton Park 

Page 29



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 It is in a contained area lower than nearby houses and fits in with the use of the 
surrounding area.  

 Most workers within Faverdale will see this development in a positive light 

 The land is currently wasted and will be a massive improvement 

 This will secure more jobs in the area 

 This will be in walking distance from my home 

 This will reduce the number of cars having to drive across town for food 
shopping 

 West Park area is further expanding, and the provision of new shops can only 
be of benefit 

 We need this in our town, and it would be good for local area 

 This will be great as long as there is pedestrian access 

 This will utilise a brownfield site 

 Having a Lidl on this side of town will greatly improve the area and provide 
other food shopping alternatives 

 This will enhance the similar development at West Park 

 This is a good location for the development 

 I do not believe it would affect footfall in the town centre as these shops are 
either already outside of the town centre or are no longer operating there 

 This will have easy access and free parking and will free up congestion in the 
town centre 

 Money will be spent in Darlington rather than other places like West Auckland 

 The infrastructure and transport seem perfectly in place to allow this 
development to succeed 

 A great asset to the area 
 

PLANNING ISSUES/ANALYSIS 
 

a) Employment Land Policy 
26. The application site is part of an area identified as employment land in the Local 

Plan. Policy EP2 (Employment Land) sets out that this area would be suitable for 
Use Class B1 (Business) uses as well as Use Class B2 (General Industry) and Use 
Class B8 (Storage and Distribution), subject to impacts on local amenity.  
 

27. Policy CS5 (The Provision of Land for Employment Use) of the Core Strategy states 
that existing viable employment sites and other sites with special attributes will be 
protected by safeguarding them for employment uses or for mixed uses where 
appropriate. Policy CS5 does, however, state that exceptions will be made where it 
can be demonstrated that:  
 

 Continued use of the site for employment uses is no longer viable for 
appropriate employment uses, taking into account the site’s characteristics and 
existing/potential market demand; or  

 Continued use of the site for B1, B2 or B8 purposes gives rise to unacceptable 
environmental or accessibility problems; or  

 An alternative mix of uses offers greater potential benefits to the community in 
meeting local needs for business and employment, or has other regeneration 
benefits; and  

Page 30



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 The site is no longer required for the purposes of providing a balanced portfolio 
of land for employment purposes.  
 

28. The planning application has been supported by an Employment Land Viability 
report (April 2019). This report gives a description of the site, a commentary and 
general overview of the property market providing a context for the site within the 
present property market. The report then looks in greater detail at Darlington and 
the supply and demand for existing commercial buildings in the area and also the 
supply and demand for development land. Further analysis with a specific focus on 
the planning aspects followed by a development appraisal of the land for 
commercial development is included and the report then compares the Faverdale 
site against major competing developments and focuses on the feasibility of the site 
for B1, B2 and B8 purposes from a commercial point of view. 
 

29. The authors of the Report are Carter Jonas who were also commissioned to 
produce a report in 2014 to support planning application reference number 
14/01043/OUT. At that time, the Council accepted the findings of the report which 
stated that the limited demand for employment uses was such that the site was not 
needed to provide a balanced portfolio of land for employment uses; such 
employment uses would not be financially viable; the site has been heavily 
contaminated and it would cost in excess of £1.4 million to remediate and that it is 
likely that the site will remain vacant unless it is released for an alternative uses.  
 

30. The 2019 Report states that these matters have remained unchanged since 2015 
and it provides on update on the industrial market since the original report was 
produced. There is limited demand in the local area for units of 10,000 sqft or over 
with only 8 lettings taking place within 3 miles of the application site within the last 3 
years; alternative sites further afield have been marketing sites and units with very 
limited success despite extensive marketing exercises; potential occupiers are 
looking predominately at existing buildings given the level of rent that they are able 
to pay. 
 

31. With regard to the application site, the original industrial unit (273,458 sqft) that was 
previously on the site was marketed in 2006 by agents GVA. It was on the market 
for one year however they were unsuccessful in finding a tenant for the property. 
The property had been marketed online on the GVA website, Co-star as well as site 
boards and brochures. The property was sold to The Spencer Group in 2007 for 
development and the industrial unit was demolished in 2008. From 2008-2011 the 
site lay dormant as there was little demand for the site and the recession made the 
development unviable. 
 

32. In late 2011, Hansteen UK Industrial Property Limited acquired the Spencer Group 
along with all of their property assets. Since the acquisition, Hansteen has 
marketed the site for industrial development however no substantial interest has 
ever been received. The site has in total been marketed/made available for 
development for over 10 years and there has been no realistic, deliverable or 
substantial interest in the development site. 
 

Page 31



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

33. The Report advisees that a proposed scheme of 175,000 sqft industrial 
development, which would deliver the highest commercial value and would be the 
most relevant and deliverable use for the site in the current market would still be 
unviable taking into account factors such as projected rents; build costs and site 
remediation. 
 

34. The Report concludes that, based on the limited demand, despite extensive 
marketing over a sustained period, an oversupply of more suitable development 
sites, and the findings from the development appraisal, the applicant’s do not 
believe that the site should be developed for its current allocated use and will 
remain vacant unless the site is released for alternative use. 
 

35. Officers do not dispute the findings of the Report submitted with the application and 
consider that the site, which has been vacant since 2008 is likely to remain vacant 
unless it is released for an alternative use. In this context paragraph 120 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 states that: 
 
Planning policies and decisions need to reflect changes in the demand for land. 
They should be informed by regular reviews of both the land allocated for 
development in plans, and of land availability. Where the local planning authority 
considers there to be no reasonable prospect of an application coming forwardfor 
the use allocated in a plan: 
 
a) they should, as part of plan updates, reallocate the land for a more deliverable 

use that can help to address identified needs (or, if appropriate, deallocate a 
site which is undeveloped); and 
 

b) in the interim, prior to updating the plan, applications for alternative uses on the 
land should be supported, where the proposed use would contribute to meeting 
an unmet need for development in the area. 

 
36. The positive impacts the proposal would have on the locality including jobs, 

environmental benefits and by bringing a derelict site into use are acknowledged.  
This position is noted, however, other developments for employment uses would 
also have their own benefits if a reasonable prospect of an alternative employment 
use were to come forward.  
 

37. The evidence that has been put forward reflects the current market and highlights 
that the position has not changed since the previous submission for a supermarket 
was considered and supported by the Council in 2015.  
 

38. Notwithstanding the question mark over the acceptability of this proposal in general 
planning policy terms, Officers consider that the site, in a prominent location within 
the Faverdale Industrial Estate, but on its periphery, close to residential areas, 
could be redeveloped for purposes other than B1, B2 or B8. 
 
b) Retail Planning Policy 

39. The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) emphasises the 
Government’s commitment to securing economic growth and building a strong, 

Page 32



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

responsive and competitive economy. With regard to the assessment of proposals 
for main town centre development, the NPPF provides two principal national policy 
tests relating to the sequential approach to development and to impact.  
 

40. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF sets out a twin impact test, stating that:  
 
‘When assessing applications for retail and leisure development outside town 
centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, local planning 
authorities should require an impact assessment if the development is over a 
proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if there is no locally set threshold, 
the default threshold is 2,500 sq.m of gross floorspace). This should include 
assessment of:  
 
a. the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and 

private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal; 
and  
 

b. the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local 
consumer choice and trade in the town centre and wider retail catchment (as 
applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).’ 

 
41. Paragraph 90 indicates that, where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test 

or is likely to have a significant adverse impact on one or more of the above factors, 
it should be refused. However, this direction cannot extinguish the requirement set 
out in statute to first consider development plan policy and then all material 
considerations in assessing the ‘planning balance’ when making a decision. 
 

42. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that:  
 
‘…if regard is to be had to the Development Plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning acts, the determination must be made 
in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.’ 
 

43. Saved Policy S10 of the Local Plan states that the Council will safeguard and 
enhance the vitality and viability of the district and local centres in the Borough and, 
in particular, will safeguard their role for food shopping. 
 

44. Policy CS8 of the Core Strategy relates to additional retail provision. The policy 
states that the need for additional comparison goods retail floorspace in the 
Borough by 2016 should be met mainly or wholly by a retail-led scheme at 
Commercial Street. It is stated that a further 4,000 sq.m gross could be needed, 
provided that its development would not undermine that at Commercial Street and 
should be accommodated within the primary shopping area of the town centre or in 
physically and functionally integrated extensions to it. 
 

45. In terms of convenience retail floorspace, Policy CS8 states that there is no 
quantitative need for additional floorspace in the Borough up to 2021, with a need 
for 2,000 sq.m gross floorspace expected between 2021 and 2026. The policy 
states that such provision should be located within existing centres and where it will 

Page 33



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

remedy qualitative local deficiencies in the geographical distribution of food 
shopping including areas of new residential development. It should be noted that 
the requirement set out in Policy CS8 does not represent an up to date assessment 
of retail need in the Darlington administrative area, given that the Darlington Retail 
and Town Centre Study reported in September 2014, and a further Retail Study 
Update reported in November 2017. 
 

46. The Darlington Town Centre Strategy 2019-2030 sets out a clear direction for the 
town centre and provides a framework for planning, development and town centre 
management activities. The strategy outlines key priority areas for action to reshape 
the town centre. One such area is commercial Street car park, which the Strategy 
highlights could be developed for convenience food retailing purposes. Such stores 
can play a significant role in attracting people to the town centre which accords with 
the requirements of the “Town Centre First” policy within the NPPF. 
 
Retail Impact Test 

47. Paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF indicate that application proposals for retail and 
leisure development may be refused planning permission where a significant 
adverse impact is likely to arise from development. The key consideration is clearly 
not whether there is an impact as a result of development, but whether that impact 
could be deemed to be ‘significantly adverse’. 
 

48. In assessing the significance of impacts arising from development, it is appropriate 
to reflect upon the advice set out in the Town Centres PPG. In this regard, 
paragraph 017 states that:  
 
‘A judgement as to whether the likely adverse impacts are significant can only be 
reached in light of local circumstances. For example, in areas where there are high 
levels of vacancy and limited retailer demand, even very modest trade diversion 
from a new development may lead to a significant adverse impact.’ 
 

49. It must be recognised that impacts will arise with all retail developments, but that 
these will not always be unacceptable, not least because development often 
enhances choice and competition. It is therefore necessary to differentiate between 
those developments that will have an impact and those that will undermine the 
future vitality and viability of established centres, i.e. have a ‘significant adverse’ 
impact. 
 

50. The Council has sought independent advice from expert retail consultants Nexus 
Planning on whether the proposed development would have any impact upon the 
existing town centre and local and district shopping centres in the Borough. Their 
conclusions and advice have been provided following extensive discussions with 
the applicant and their retail consultants and consideration of their submissions 
made at various points during the determination period. 
 

51. The first strand of the impact test, as identified by paragraph 89 of the NPPF, is set 
out below.  
 

Page 34



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Impact of the Proposal on Existing, Committed and Planned Public and Private 
Sector Investment in a Centre or Centres in the Catchment Area of the Proposal 
 

52. There has been significant investment in Darlington town centre in recent years and 
given the nature of the Faverdale application proposal, which would principally meet 
day-to-day needs that arise in the north west of the town, Nexus Planning do not 
believe the application proposal will adversely impact upon any specific existing, 
committed or planned investment in the town centre. 
 

53. The centres of principal relevance to the NPPF impact test are considered to be 
West Park local centre and the Cockerton district centre. Impacts which arise at 
North Road district centre will principally be borne by the Morrisons store, which 
appears to trade strongly.  
 

54. Significant development was delivered through the opening of West Park local 
centre in 2006, and in the form of the adjacent Aldi and Marks and Spencer stores, 
which opened in 2018. Given that this investment has largely ‘bedded in’, it is 
considered appropriate to consider the health of West Park local centre and its 
ability to withstand impacts arising from the application proposal in the assessment 
of the second part of the NPPF impact test. 
 

55. As such, Nexus Planning has advised that they find the proposal accords with the 
requirements of the first part of the NPPF impact test. 
 

56. The second strand of the impact test, as identified by paragraph 89 of the NPPF, is 
set out below.  
 
The Impact of the Proposal on Town Centre Vitality and Viability, Including Local 
Consumer Choice and Trade in the Town Centre and Wider Area 
 

57. It is accepted that the proposed Class A1/A3 drive-thru unit would largely cater for 
those primarily visiting the site in order to shop, and those passing nearby. No 
significant impacts will arise from the proposed drive-thru unit due to it primarily 
meeting a relatively localised need. Therefore, it is the retail element of the proposal 
which is of principal relevance to the second part of the impact test. 
 

58. Officers can advise Members that Nexus Planning provided advice on the initial 
information submitted in support of the planning application in July 2019 which 
concluded that their review of the application identified a number of matters where, 
in their opinion, the applied inputs and assumptions provided for an unreliable 
assessment. As a consequence, Nexus Planning advised that the applicant had not 
demonstrated compliance with the second part of the NPPF impact test.  
 

59. Following this, the applicant provided a Response Note and Revised Retail Impact 
Assessment in September 2019.  Nexus Planning, in turn, provided further advice 
in the form of a letter to Darlington Council (October 2019). Whilst the applicant had 
sought to revise its approach in order to respond to the concerns, Nexus Planning’s 
advice remained that compliance with the impact test had not been demonstrated. 
 

Page 35



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

60. As a consequence of all of the above, the applicant provided further information to 
the Council with revised retail impact tables (dated 14 May 2020), which revisit the 
matter of retail impact based on a new household shopper survey (undertaken by 
NEMS and dated February 2020). Nexus Planning reviewed the additional evidence 
provided by the applicant in order to advise the Council in respect of the proposal’s 
compliance with the second strand of the NPPF test.   
 

61. The broad methodology for the undertaking of a new household survey was agreed 
between the applicant and Nexus Planning in January 2020.  The household 
shopper survey was completed before changes and disruption in shopping patterns 
as a consequence of Covid-19 but the ongoing impacts arising from the pandemic 
do not invalidate the findings of the survey. Accordingly, Nexus Planning accept 
that, in principle, the applicant’s approach in undertaking a new household shopper 
survey (and in confirming key elements of its methodology in advance) was 
appropriate. 
 

62. The applicant set out a series of updated inputs and assumptions which underpin 
its approach to retail impact.  A revised series of retail impact tables were also 
provided which were all considered by Nexus Planning. Whilst some inputs and 
assumptions made by the applicant have been accepted, the critical judgement 
associated with the acceptability of the impacts arising from the proposal is the 
ability of local food retailers to withstand trade diversion impacts. In considering 
such impacts, it is important to acknowledge that household surveys can 
sometimes underestimate the turnover of smaller convenience goods stores.  This 
may be because of sample size, but also due to difficulties in respondents 
understanding and accurately recalling their ‘top up’ shopping trips. 
 

63. However, even allowing for this, Nexus Planning believe it to be clear that the 
revised retail impact assessment fails to provide any assurance that the Co-op and 
Heron stores at Cockerton district centre would remain viable subsequent to the 
implementation of the proposal.  They have also expressed some concerns about 
the identified trading performance of the Co-op at West Park local centre, which the 
applicant’s evidence suggests is remarkably low.  
 

64. The advice from Nexus Planning is that the application proposal would have a 
greater impact on convenience goods retailers at Cockerton district centre and 
West Park local centre than identified by the applicant. Moreover, it is also 
important to recognise that the applicant’s own assessment actually fails to 
demonstrate that nearby food stores would continue to operate viably subsequent 
to the implementation of the proposal. 
 

65. Nexus Planning’s considerations in 2019 in respect of Cockerton district centre are 
set out below and there appears to be no evidence that its performance has 
improved since: 
 
…the centre’s health is weaker than it was five years ago and that its current 
performance is only moderate.  Furthermore, we believe that Cockerton district 
centre’s convenience goods offer will continue to be of importance in the future in 
helping to anchor the centre.’ 

Page 36



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
66. West Park was found to be a vital and viable centre at June 2019, and one which is 

anchored in part by the Aldi and M&S Simply Food units to the north of John Fowler 
Way.  The applicant’s submission demonstrates that the Aldi performs well, and it is 
recognised that the M&S is, in qualitative terms, a different proposition to the 
proposed Faverdale development.  Accordingly, whilst the proposal will have some 
trade diversion from the Co-op at West Park, on balance Nexus Planning believe 
that West Park centre overall would be unlikely to suffer a significant adverse 
impact as a consequence of the proposed development.  This is a consequence of 
the likely ongoing satisfactory performance of the Aldi and M&S stores. 
 

67. Cockerton district centre has a greater dependency on smaller food stores which do 
not appear to trade as strongly as the two key anchors at West Park. Furthermore, 
there are particular circumstances apparent at Cockerton which give cause for 
concern; namely, whether or not two Co-op stores are likely to continue to trade in 
close proximity to one another should the application be implemented.  Nexus 
Planning has advised, the revised retail impact assessment provides no 
reassurance that the two Co-ops would both remain viable subsequent to the 
proposed development coming forward.   
 

68. Whilst the applicant’s household survey suggests that the larger store performs 
particularly poorly relative to its company average benchmark it is this store (with a 
wider product range) that is likely to trade more directly against the proposed Lidl 
and Home Bargains stores.  From the information submitted by the applicant and 
Nexus Planning’s own consideration of the trading performance of Cockerton, 
Nexus Planning has advised that continued operation of the larger Co-op would 
likely be jeopardised by the application proposal and the loss of the larger Co-op 
would deprive the centre of its principal anchor tenant 
 

69. It is also relevant to note that the applicant has provided no further substantive 
evidence which provides any comfort about how Cockerton’s food retailers trade in 
practice.  The applicant fails to provide any detailed observations in respect of the 
amount of custom it has observed in visiting the stores and there is no ‘street 
survey’ evidence or pedestrian count which suggests that the stores actually trade 
well in practice.  Indeed, the application submission is lacking in detail about the 
local circumstances. Given all of the above, Nexus Planning find that: 
 
a. the applicant has failed to demonstrate that there would be no significant 

adverse impact arising at Cockerton district centre as a consequence of the 
proposal, thereby failing to accord with the requirements of NPPF paragraphs 
89 and 90; and 
 

b. there is a genuine likelihood of such an impact occurring in practice, based on 
the applicant’s retail impact submission and their knowledge of the centre and 
their observations over a number of years in respect of how it trades.  

 
 
 
 

Page 37



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Sequential Test 
70. Paragraph 86 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should apply a 

sequential test to planning applications for main town centre uses that are not in 
accordance with an up-to-date plan. Paragraph 86 goes on to state that:  
 
‘Main town centre uses should be located in town centres, then in edge of centre 
locations; and only if suitable sites are not available (or expected to become 
available within a reasonable period) should out of centre sites be considered.’ 
 

71. Paragraph 87 then identifies that ‘When considering edge of centre and out of 
centre proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites which are well 
connected to the town centre.  Applicants and local planning authorities should 
demonstrate flexibility on issues such as format and scale, so that opportunities to 
utilise suitable town centre or edge of centre sites are fully explored.’ 
 

72. Paragraph 90 indicates that, where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test 
(or is likely to result in a significant adverse impact arising at a town centre), it 
should be refused.  However, this direction cannot and does not extinguish the 
requirement set out in statute to first consider development plan policy and then all 
material considerations when making a decision. 
 

73. Guidance on the application of the sequential approach is provided by the Town 
Centres and Retail Planning Practice Guidance (‘the Town Centres PPG’), which 
was published on 22 July 2019.   Paragraph 011 of the Town Centres PPG 
provides a ‘checklist’ for the application of the sequential test to decision taking.  It 
identifies the following considerations: 
 

a) With due regard to the requirement to demonstrate flexibility, has the suitability of 
more central sites to accommodate the proposal been considered?  Where the 
proposal would be located in an edge of centre or out of centre location, 
preference should be given to accessible sites that are well connected to the 
town centre.  Any associated reasoning should be set out clearly. 

b) Is there scope for flexibility in the format and/or scale of the proposal?  It is not 
necessary to demonstrate that a potential town centre or edge of centre site can 
accommodate precisely the scale and form of development being proposed, but 
rather to consider what contribution more central sites are able to make 
individually to accommodate the proposal. 

 
74. If there are no suitable sequentially preferable locations, the sequential test is 

passed. 
 

75. Paragraph 011 goes on to reaffirm that, only if suitable sites in town centre or edge 
of centre sites are not available (or expected to become available within a 
reasonable period) should out of centre sites be considered.  When considering 
what a reasonable period is for this purpose, the scale and complexity of the 
proposed scheme and of potentially suitable town or edge of centre sites should be 
taken into account. 
 

Page 38



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

76. Town Centres PPG paragraph 012 identifies that the application of the sequential 
test may be affected by the characteristics of a proposal.  It states that ‘Use of the 
sequential test should recognise that certain main town centre uses have particular 
market and locational characteristics which mean that they may only be 
accommodated in specific locations.  Robust justification will need to be provided 
where this is the case and land ownership does not provide such a justification.’  
 

77. In respect of viability, Town Centres PPG paragraph 013 identifies that as: 
 
‘…promoting new development on town centre locations can be more expensive 
and complicated than building elsewhere, local planning authorities need to be 
realistic and flexible in applying the test.’  
 

78. The Core Strategy 2011 fails to provide a detailed sequential policy test, albeit 
Policy CS7 indicates that the town centre will be a focus for further development.  
Policy CS8 also indicates that the Commercial Street site in the town centre should 
be the priority for additional comparison goods development, and that additional 
convenience goods provision should be located within existing centres and where it 
will remedy local deficiencies in the geographical distribution of food shopping, 
including areas of new residential development. 
 

79. Nexus Planning has provided a review on how the matter of ‘flexibility’ has been 
applied by the Courts, and to consider whether there is any need to ‘disaggregate’ 
constituent elements of the proposal when considering alternative sites. The 
‘suitability’ of sequential alternatives should be considered with reference to the 
subject application proposal and whether the proposal could be accommodated at a 
sequentially preferable location. The concept of ‘disaggregation’ relates to the 
potential for different elements of an application proposal to be sub-divided onto 
different sites. 
 

80. Nexus Planning advise that they accept there is no need to disaggregate the 
proposal and that an alternative site should be able to accommodate the application 
proposal in its entirety, allowing for appropriate flexibility in format and scale. 
 

81. The application site is 1.9 hectares and the proposed layout represents an efficient 
use of the site, with no substantial access roads taking up excessive space, and car 
parking configured in a straightforward and efficient manner. Accordingly, whilst it is 
important to recognise that units may be able to be reduced in size to some degree 
and that a lesser level of car parking may be acceptable in practice (whilst still 
allowing for a satisfactory development), it is considered that a materially similar 
development could not be supported on a very significantly smaller site.   
 

82. Having considered the location of the application site; the existing retail provision of 
the north west of Darlington; that fact that the proposed discount food store and the 
other retail unit are focused at meeting day to day convenience goods and 
household comparison goods needs; and the location of existing competing 
facilities, it is anticipated that the large majority of custom to the proposed 
development would originate within a seven minute drive of the application site and 
Nexus Planning has provided their advice on the basis. Any site located outside of 

Page 39



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

this area would not offer realistic potential to accommodate a broadly similar 
development which is capable of meeting broadly similar needs.  Indeed, even sites 
located at the periphery of the catchment may only have a limited overlap in respect 
of the market served, given the distribution of existing retail facilities in the town.  As 
a consequence of the above, in order to offer realistic potential, sequential 
alternative sites will need to be: 
 

a) able to accommodate all of the constituent elements of the proposal without the 
need for disaggregation; 

b) at least 1.5 hectares in size; and 
c) located within a seven minute off-peak drivetime catchment of the application 

site. 
 

83. The applicant was requested to investigate the availability and suitability of the 
following sites which they subsequently discounted for a number of reasons and 
their responses have been considered by Nexus Planning as follows: 
 
Cockerton Precinct 

84. There are no vacant units at Cockerton Precinct which offer any realistic potential.  
The site is remains in use and is easily discounted from the assessment.   
 
Cockerton Band and Musical Institute 

85. The Cockerton Band and Musical Institute is also occupied, and land to the east is 
being developed by North Star for social housing.  As such, there is no site 
available at this location to accommodate the application proposal. 
 
Land at Gladstone Street 

86. The Gladstone Street car parks form part of allocation within the emerging Local 
Plan for being appropriate for town centre uses.  The allocation also incorporates 
the Commercial Street development site and, in aggregate, comprises 2.4 hectares 
(albeit we recognise that St Augustine’s Way runs between the two elements of the 
wider site). However, the site is located just outside of the seven minute off-peak 
drivetime catchment which is indicative of the principal catchment area of the 
application proposal.  There would only be a limited overlap between the catchment 
area of the application proposal should it trade from the Faverdale site and that of a 
broadly similar operation trading from Gladstone Street.  It is accepted that the 
purpose of the proposal is to cater for residents in the north-western part of 
Darlington and to divert trade away from the Aldi, M&S Simply Food, Co-op stores, 
and other operators in that part of the town. The Gladstone Street site could not 
support a retail operation which competes effectively against such retailers in order 
to serve residents within the north-west of the town and as a consequence, the 
Gladstone Street site is not suitable to accommodate the application proposal.  
 
Garden Street 

87. The Garden Street car park site is far too small to accommodate the application 
proposal and it is located outside the seven minute off-peak drivetime area. 
 
Commercial Street  

Page 40



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

88. Commercial Street forms the southern part of the aforementioned emerging Local 
Plan allocation and this site would be unsuitable to accommodate the proposed 
development for the same reasons as the Gladstone Street site.   
 
Former M&S, Northgate 

89. This building is not likely sufficiently large enough to accommodate the proposed 
uses (and associated adjacent car parking).  Furthermore, it is outside the seven 
minute off-peak drivetime catchment and can be discounted from the assessment 
on this basis. 
 
Sports Direct 

90. The former Sport Direct premises are located even further away from the 
application site, at the eastern part of the town centre.  The site therefore could not 
support the same retail operation and it is therefore not a suitable site for the 
purpose of the sequential test.   
 
Brunswick Street 

91. The Brunswick Street car park site is situated to the east of Darlington town centre.  
It is well outside the identified catchment area for the proposal and is therefore not 
a suitable site. 
 
Halfords, Russell Street Retail Park 

92. The entirety of the Russell Street Retail Park site is substantially smaller than the 
application site, it is situated to the north-east of Darlington town centre and is 
outside the defined seven minute drivetime area.  It is not suitable to accommodate 
the application proposal. 
 
Whessoe Retail Park 

93. This site is located at the periphery of the defined seven minute off-peak drivetime.  
Whilst there would be some overlap between the catchment served from Whessoe 
Retail Park and Faverdale, there would also be substantial differences.  Whessoe 
Retail Park is not an appropriate location to efficiently serve a localised north-west 
Darlington catchment.  Residents of north-west Darlington would be unlikely to 
choose to forego more convenient existing operators in the Cockerton and West 
Park areas to travel to Whessoe Park in sufficient numbers. The site comprises 
around 1.2 hectares, which is very substantially under the necessary 1.5 hectares 
threshold. 
 

94. Having considered the above sites, Nexus Planning do not believe that there is a 
sequentially preferable site to accommodate the application proposal and they find 
therefore that it accords with the requirements of the test as articulated by NPPF 
paragraphs 86 and 87. 
 
c) Economic Impacts 

95. The proposal itself will deliver new job generating uses which have the potential to 
deliver up to 130 new full and part time jobs. Further employment opportunities will 
also be maintained and generated by the construction industry supply chain. This is 
a material planning consideration when determining this planning application. 
Overall, the applicant believe that this proposal will have a significant positive 

Page 41



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

impact on the economy of the area in accordance with a range of national and local 
policy objectives, in particular:  
 
a) Total private sector investment into the area of approximately £10 million;  
b) Up to 130 new jobs in order to facilitate the Lidl food store, Home Bargains and 

Starbucks with further indirect and induced jobs created through construction;  
c) Supporting economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local 

business needs and wider opportunities for redevelopment;  
d) Promoting the effective use of land for a more deliverable uses that can help to 

address identified needs; and  
e) Ensuring that Darlington is an economically active and self-sustaining town, 

offering equal opportunities for all.  
 
d) Environmental Considerations 

96. The proposed development represents the redevelopment of a contaminated and 
brownfield site and the site is fully accessible by means of transport other than the 
motor vehicle. There are a number of measures to promote sustainable transport 
are outlined within a Travel Plan which would be promoted to the employees. 
Furthermore, key measures have been integrated into the scheme which will 
reduce the developments impact on climate change for example, recycling on site; 
high efficiency boilers, energy efficient LED lighting (Lidl); electric car charging 
points, solar panels where possible (Home Bargains); low water usage sanitary 
appliances (Starbucks). Lidl, Home Bargains and Starbucks each have 
comprehensive sustainability measures which demonstrate their commitment to 
addressing the threat of climate change.  
 
e) Design and Layout and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the 
Area 

97. The industrial and commercial area within which the application site lies 
predominately comprises of vacant sites and two and single storey office, 
warehouse and industrial buildings of varying ages and designs. The residential 
dwellings in the area semi detached and detached properties 
 

98. The three proposed buildings sit on the perimeter of the site boundary to allow for 
the parking areas to be centrally located away from public footpaths. Service yards 
are generally located to the rear or the side of each unit, keeping active frontages 
out onto the central parking areas. All three buildings have been developed by 
utilising their standard brand specifications which would usually be the case on 
mixed retail developments. 
 

99. The retail supermarket (Lidl) is located on the western perimeter of the site. The 
unit is a single span building with a shallow mono pitched roof rising to its highest 
point (just over 7m) facing the car park. The building would be constructed from a 
mixture of render, metallic cladding and glazing. The pedestrian entrance is located 
in the south east corner of the building, constructed from glass walling and overshot 
by a canopy. 
 

100. The retail store (Home Bargains) is located on the northern perimeter of the site. 
This unit is also a single span building with a shallow pitched roof rising to its 

Page 42



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

highest point (8.5m) facing the car park. The building would be constructed from red 
brick and metallic cladding. The pedestrian entrance is located in the south east 
corner of the store, designed from glass walling and a covered entrance. 
 

101. The Drive Thru unit (Starbucks) is located on the southern perimeter of the site. 
This is a single storey unit with a mono pitched roof. The roof rises to the front of 
the unit (to just over 3.9m in height) and it is orientated to have the pedestrian 
entrance of the building looking into the car park with the drive thru windows facing 
the Faverdale estate road. A central tower element is positioned to come from the 
base at the front of the unit rising through the roof (total height of 7m) within the 
exposed wooden rafters. The units will be constructed using a steel and wooden 
frame clad in composite highly insulated panels to the side and rear with a full glass 
wall to the pedestrian entrance elevation. 
 

102. The overall site and all entrances into the buildings will be level to ensure safe, 
convenient and attractive access for all in accordance with Policy CS2 of the Core 
Strategy. 
 

103. The site is currently a vacant and derelict site and it has been for a number of 
years. The proposed buildings are well designed, and the layout is acceptable on 
this prominent location. The development would not harm the visual appearance of 
the local area and would accord with policy CS2 of the Core Strategy. 
 
f) Residential Amenity  

104. There are no residential properties immediately to the north, east or south of the 
site. To the west are residential properties on Faverdale Road. These are 
separated from the application site by a wooded area and are some 32m from the 
application site. The size and siting of the proposed buildings and the associated 
landscaping works would be such that no significant issues would be raised 
regarding overbearingness. 
 

105. The proposed hours of operation and deliveries are acceptable and can be 
secured by a planning condition. 
 

106. A Noise Impact Assessment has been submitted in support of the planning 
application which considered the potential noise impacts from the construction 
phase, plant and machinery; deliveries and road traffic. The Assessment concludes 
that any impacts during the construction phase can be controlled by a Construction 
Management Plan; the cumulative operational noise sources would have no 
impacts during the daytime at the nearest noise receptors to the proposed 
development but there would be moderate impact during the night time. A 
subsequent noise mitigation strategy was modelled incorporating a 2 metre high 
close boarded wooden fence around all plant equipment located at ground level 
and this showed no impact during the daytime and night time at all receptors. A full 
assessment of the noise from plant was not possible as insufficient information has 
been supplied at this early stage on the precise details of the equipment but the 
Assessment recommends that all plant is designed such that the rating level at 
nearly residential properties does not lead to significant adverse impacts, in 
accordance with BS4142. 

Page 43



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
107. The lighting scheme for the scheme will be designed to maximise efficiency, 

minimise light spillage and pollution and be to adoptable standards to the access 
road. Timed and light sensor operations will be employed to ensure safety and 
minimise night disturbance where appropriate. 
 

108. The Agent acting on behalf of the appellant has advised that the scheme will not 
include a recycling centre, which can be an adverse noise source. 
 

109. The Council’s Environmental Health Manager has raised no objections to the 
scheme subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions relating to the hours of 
deliveries and opening times; precise details of external plant and machinery; 
precise details of the lighting scheme; a Construction Management Plan and 
compliance with the submitted Noise Impact Assessment.  
 

110. The proposed development would accord with policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 
2011 and the NPPF 2019. 
 
g) Highways Matters 
Sustainable Transport 

111. Faverdale Road bus stops adjacent to the proposed site provide Bus Service No 
19. This is a half hourly service Monday to Saturday and hourly on a Sunday. There 
is no evening service throughout the week. The first bus from the site to the town 
centre leaves at 07:41 and the last bus from the town centre to the site arrives at 
17:47. 
 

112. The site (all three phases) are within 400m walking distance of a bus stop. A 
slightly further walk to Auckland Road offers more frequent services (every fifteen 
minutes) including an evening service (1/1B/X1).  
 

113. Improvements are needed to Faverdale Outbound bus stop including raised kerb, 
and as such a financial contribution will be sought via a Section 106 Agreement. 
 

114. A Framework Travel Plan has been submitted which aims to ensure that all 
employees can choose from a range of options for travelling by non car modes 
which is welcomed by the Council’s Sustainable Transport Officer. As the site 
specific plans come forward, the Officer would work with each site/developer to 
ensure that these travel plans are submitted through our online travel planning tool. 
This ensures the Travel Plan is accessible, easily updatable and evidence can be 
provided for monitoring purposes.  
 

115. This site needs to link into existing surrounding footways and there is a pedestrian 
link into the site that is separate to the main vehicular access.  
 

116. The Travel Plan states that a segregated footway/cycleway will be provided along 
the northern edge of Faverdale, adjacent to the development site. This footway 
could be a shared use footway, providing the route has a minimum width of 3 
metres (ideally 4 metres). This should include a drop off onto the carriageway and 
short section of on road cycle lane. A planning obligation would be sought to 

Page 44



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

improve and maintain footways and cycleways close the site including 
improvements to Faverdale Black Path and a potential shared use path continuing 
along Faverdale. 
 

117. Precise details of cycle parking can be secured by the imposition of an appropriate 
planning condition if the application is approved. 
 
Impact on the Local Highway Network 

118. A full Transport Assessment has been submitted in support of the application. The 
proposed extent of generated traffic is compared against the previously approved 
permission (ref no14/01043/OUT) and it does show a significant reduction in the 
AM and PM weekday peak periods and also the Saturday peak. 
 

119. The total vehicle generation for the retail store has been reduced by 20% to take 
account of trip sharing between this store and the food supermarket store on the 
site assuming that 1 in 5 people will visit both stores. 
 

120. Based on the adjusted TRICS generation it is estimated that there will be 157 trips 
in the AM weekday peak and 213 vehicles trips in the PM weekday peak associated 
with the development.  The Saturday peak for the development is estimated to be 
11:00 to 12:00 hours and the development is proposed to generate 357 vehicle 
trips. This is a reduction of 287 trips in the AM peak and 444 in the PM peak when 
compared to the previously approved consent and a reduction of 424 vehicle trips in 
the Saturday peak hour. 
 

121. New retail developments typically generate very little wholly new traffic to the 
highway network, typically around 1%, and in practice the majority of the traffic 
associated with the development consists of existing retail journeys to other stores 
that transfer.  For the purposes of this assessment it is assumed that 60% of 
weekday trips and 75% of weekend trips are considered to be transferred. 
 

122. The assessment reviews the existing and committed development as part of the 
analysis and loads this onto the highway network before assessing the additional 
trips as part of this application. The different scenarios have been ran through the 
local Aimsun model that was developed to assess the previous developments.  This 
shows that the additional development traffic would not severely impact on the local 
highway network and during the Am peak increases the average travel time per 
vehicle by 27 seconds and 37secs in the Pm peak respectively.  Travel times in the 
Saturday peak are increased by an average of 5 seconds per vehicle when 
compared to the base scenario.  This assumes that certain highway improvement 
schemes are in place including the recently constructed third lane approach to 
Rotary Way roundabout, improvements to Cockerton Roundabouts (proposed late 
2019) and the new link from Edward Pease Way to Newton Lane which is required 
as part of the Stag House Farm development which is a realistic base scenario. 
 

123. Based on the above, the Council’s Highways Engineer has advised that the 
development traffic would not have a material impact on the local road network.  
 
Access Arrangements 

Page 45



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

124. A single point of access is taken off Faverdale Road in the form of a simple priority 
junction with visibility appropriate to the 30mph speed limit (2.4 x 43m) along with 
suitable junction spacing. Radius kerbs are detailed along with an access road 
width of 7.5m which will facilitate the movement of 16.5m articulated vehicles 
making deliveries to the site.  
 

125. Pedestrian access to the development is via shared footway/cycleway provided 
both sides of the of the site access road, with suitable tactile paving and dropped 
crossings as appropriate.  
 

126. A review of recorded accident statistics is included with the Transport Assessment 
and the findings are confirmed by Police statistics for the previous five year 
period.   The summary of the findings concludes that there is no evidence to 
suggest that there are any issues with road layout, inadequate signage, or poor 
road surfaces that are considered contributory factors.  The is no particular pattern 
to accidents and most are deemed to be driver error in exiting junctions or 
anticipating vehicles ahead stopping or turning.  
 

127. A vehicle swept path analysis has demonstrated that the turning and servicing 

facilities within the site are of sufficient size to accommodate reuse and servicing 

vehicles. However, service management plan is necessary and should stipulate the 

times and size that delivery vehicles can be permitted in the interest of public safety 

as the units are reliant on using the car park for access to the service yards. This 

can be secured by a planning condition. 

 
128. The Council’s Highways Engineer has advised that the access arrangements for 

the proposed development are acceptable. 
 
Car Parking 

129. Car parking provision across the development is generally in line with the 
guidance set out in The Tees Valley Design Guide with a total of 263 spaces and 
includes suitable levels of disabled spaces.  The layout of the site has been revised 
which includes an increase in the level of disabled parking provision and relocating 
some spaces closer to the supermarket store which is welcomed. 
 

130. Cycle parking has been provided for each element of the development with a total 
of 30 spaces across the site, cycle racks are located close to the entrance doors of 
each business in a convenient and overlooked location. The Council’s Highways 
Engineer would consider the proposed arrangements satisfactory.  
 
Offsite highway works 

131. There are some offsite works which will need to be addressed (the proposed 
shared cycleways, redundant access points, road markings, kerb lines, bus stops) 
which can be satisfied and secured by a planning condition. 
 
Impact on Local Strategic Road Network 

132. Highways England has made a review of the Assessment and they are satisfied it 
has been demonstrated that there will only be a small impact at the A1 (M) (J58). 
Highways England has not objected to the planning application and requested the 

Page 46



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

imposition of a planning condition to secure the submission of a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan   
 

133. Overall, the proposed development is acceptable in highway safety terms and it 
would accord with CS2 of the Core Strategy. 
 
h) Ecology  

134. An Ecological Appraisal has been submitted in support of the planning application. 
The report states that the site and the immediate area include broadleaved 
woodland, dense/continuous scrub, introduced shrub, conifer tree lines, semi 
improved neutral grassland, bare ground, and hardstanding and spoil heaps which 
are unlikely to qualify as national or local biodiversity priority habitats. 
 

135. The Appraisal advises that the trees within the site have modest ecological value 
for breeding birds but do not have features potentially suitable for roosting bats. The 
Appraisal recommends the installation of bird and bat boxes on new structures, the 
use of appropriate ecological lighting and tree and scrub removal takes place 
outside of bird nesting season unless monitored by a suitably qualified ecologist. 
 

136. The Council’s Ecology Officer accepts the findings of the Appraisal and has 
requested the mitigation measures be conditioned should the application be 
approved. In such circumstances, the proposed development would accord with 
policy CS15 of the Core Strategy 2011 
 
i) Trees and Landscaping 

137. There are no significant trees within the application other than along the western 
boundary, none of which are covered by a tree preservation order.  
 

138. The landscaping for the site has been kept to a minimum with the introduction of 
grassed strips around the external edges of the site. The existing mature trees and 
hedges to the west boundary have been retained other than the potential removal 
of five young trees on the south west corner of the site. These trees would be 
Category C trees under the BS5837 and there are no objections to their removal.  
 

139. The proposed development would accord with saved policies E12 and E14 of the 
Local Plan 1997 and CS2 of the Core Strategy 2011. 
 
j) Flood Risk 

140. The Environment Agency flood maps confirms that the site lies entirely within 
Flood Zone 1. Environment Agency / DEFRA mapping indicates no risk from 
reservoir flooding with isolated areas of generally low risk surface water flooding. 
There are no historical records of flooding from sewers, highway drainage, overland 
flow or groundwater in the immediate vicinity of the site and the site is not shown to 
be at risk from coastal inundation flooding. 
 

141. The existing site drainage is unattenuated and connects into the adopted sewer 
network which, in turn, discharges into an unnamed watercourse circa 150m south 
of the development site (close to the West Park housing development). 
 

Page 47



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

142. The Flood Risk Assessment submitted in support of the planning application has 
advised that it is not practical to discharge post-development surface water direct to 
the nearest watercourse due to a series of third party land ownerships, it is 
therefore proposed to positively drain attenuated post development surface water 
run-off to the existing adopted Northumbria Water surface water sewer system to 
the south of the site utilising the existing on site surface water drainage connection. 
SUDS will form part of the on site drainage arrangement in the post development 
situation through the construction of a discharge control (hydrobrake) and 
attenuation system.  
 

143. Following extensive discussions with the Local Lead Flood Authority, final surface 
water flows from the site will be limited to greenfield runoff rates in accordance with 
guidance. 
 

144. It is proposed to connect the foul water drainage from the proposed development 
into the existing adopted foul sewer network. 
 

145. As the site is to be split into a number of separate ownerships, each development 
plot owner will be responsible for the regular maintenance and operation of their 
own private drainage. With regard to the shared access road into the development 
which serves each plot, the same maintenance strategy documentation will apply to 
this area also. With regard to the ownership / responsibility for maintenance of this 
area, this land will be retained by the developer and the responsibility of the 
maintenance will be placed with a third party management company. 
 

146. All roofed and paved areas are to be formally drained into the on-site surface 
water drainage system. The design of the on-site surface water system will ensure 
that no off-site flood flows are generated by the proposed development in the 1% 
plus climate change event. There will be no residual flood related risks remaining 
after the development has been completed. Safe access / egress from the site in 
extreme conditions is unaffected by the development proposals. The FRA 
concludes that the proposed post development levels will be engineered in order to 
protect the development and not provide any increased flood risk elsewhere. 
 

147. The Local Lead Flood Authority are satisfied that sufficient information has now 
been submitted to demonstrate that a surface water runoff solution for the proposed 
development can be achieved without increasing existing flood risk to the site or the 
surrounding area. However, if the planning application is approved, conditions have 
been recommended regarding the management of surface water runoff during 
construction phase and construction Phasing programme; a detailed Management 
and Maintenance Plan this information. 
 

148. Northumbrian Water and the Environment Agency have not objected to the 
planning application and therefore the proposed would accord with policy CS16 of 
the Core Strategy 2011 
 

k) Air Quality 
149. An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted which considers the potential air 

quality impacts associated with dust and particulate matter (PM10) associated with 

Page 48



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the construction phase of the proposed development, as well as road traffic 

emissions (nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) and PM10 and PM2.5) associated with the 
operational phase of the proposed development. 
 

150. The report covers an assessment of construction phase dust and PM10 emissions 
associated with earthworks, construction activities and trackout of generated dust 
onto the road network. The conclusion of this assessment is that while the impact 
from the works on human health falls into the low risk category, the impact of dust 
soiling is medium risk for some of the assessed activities (earthworks and trackout) 
and mitigation measures will therefore be required to minimise the impacts. It is 
considered in the assessment that a Dust Management Plan should be 
implemented for the site and various recommendations are made on what this 
should include. 
 

151. In relation to the operational phase of the development and the impact from road 
traffic emissions, the assessment concludes that the predicted change between the 

‘without development’ and ‘with development’ scenarios is negligible for NO₂, PM10 
and PM2.5 (annual mean concentrations).  
 

152. An exceedance of the annual mean air quality objective for NO₂ is predicted to 
occur at one sensitive receptor location (adjacent to the queuing zone of 
A68/B6279 roundabout) in the ‘without development’ scenario due to the 
contribution of traffic from committed developments in the local area. It is 
acknowledged that the assessment has however adopted a conservative approach 
and may overstate future exposure with the assessment assuming that there will be 
no background improvements or reductions in vehicles emissions in the 2026 
scenarios compared to 2016.  
 

153. All NO₂ concentrations and PM10 concentrations were predicted to meet the short 
term objectives (1 hour mean objective and daily mean objective respectively). 
 

154. The Travel Plan document which has also been submitted with this application has 
been considered and makes reference to the inclusion of cycle parking and 
development of a Framework Travel Plan (Lidl and Home Bargains) to ensure 
employers of the new development provide measures to help make sustainable 
travel practical and attractive to their employees and choose from a range of 
options for travelling by non-car modes.  
 

155. Based on the information provided, the Council’s Environmental Health Officer 
does not object to the application in air quality terms and has recommended the 
imposition of a planning condition for a Construction Management Plan which would 
include the need to submit a Dust Assessment Report.  
 

156. The planning application would accord with policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 2011 
 
l) Land Contamination 

157. The application has been supported by a document which summarises previous 
site investigation works carried out for the previous application on the site (planning 
application 14/01043/OUT). The site forms part of the former Faverdale Wagon 

Page 49



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Works (railway engineering and sidings) and was more recently occupied by SCA 
packaging (now demolished). The site is known to have included oil and chemical 
storage tanks before being cleared. 
 

158. The Environmental Ground Investigation Report dated February 2013 identified 
the presence of elevated petroleum hydrocarbons, asbestos, and lead (Pb) in near 
surface deposits of made ground, and elevated chromium, heavy fraction 
hydrocarbons, B(a)P and chlorinated solvents (TCE) in shallow groundwater. A 
limited ground gas investigation conducted over four monitoring events identified no 
significant ground gas concentrations however recommended further ground gas 
monitoring in particular for any residential element (not relevant to this application). 
The report did not adequately address all the land contamination constraints and 
hence the land contamination conditions were attached to the previous planning 
permission. 
 

159. A Geo-Environmental Summary document (dated 31 July 2018) has been 
submitted with this application which details that a supplementary site investigation 
is proposed to provide information on the soils beneath relic foundations once 
removed, with the requirement for any additional remediation or mitigation 
measures (than that proposed by WSP) being assessed based on the findings of 
this. The requirement for gas protection measures for a commercial/industrial end 
use may be revisited pending the findings of supplementary ground investigations. 
 

160. As this site has previously had planning permission for a similar end use in the 
past, the Council’s Environmental Health Officer has recommended the imposition 
of the standard planning conditions relating to ground contamination.The 
Environment Agency has also requested the imposition of planning condition 
relating to ground water and land contamination.The proposed development would 
comply with policy CS16 of the Core Strategy. 
 
m) Archaeology  

161. The area of this application is the site of the Faverdale Wagon Works. The 
creation and operation of these works are likely to have included significant 
disturbance. On that basis, the Archaeology Team at Durham County Council has 
raised no archaeological objection to the application 
 
n) Planning Obligations  

162. Where a relevant determination is made which results in planning permission 
being granted for development, a planning obligation may only constitute a reason 
for granting planning permission for the development if the obligation is: 
 

a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
b) Directly related to the development; and 
c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.   

 
163. Should the planning application be approved, the Heads of Terms that have been 

agreed with the applicant are: 
 

Page 50



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

164. A public transport contribution to improve the Faverdale Outbound stop with raised 
kerb and shelter and the Faverdale Inbound with a shelter. The obligation for this 
would be £15,440. 
 

165. A sustainable transport contribution to improve and maintain footways and 
cycleways close the site including improvements to Faverdale Black Path and a 
potential shared use path continuing along Faverdale. The obligation would equate 
to £52,600  
 

THE PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 
166. In considering this application the Local Planning Authority has complied with 

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 which places a statutory duty on public 
authorities in the exercise of their functions to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. The 
proposed buildings will be designed to be accessible for all and the general layout 
has good footpaths links between the buildings and to the existing footpath network. 
The car parking provision includes disabled spaces in appropriate locations. 
 

SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
167. The contents of this report have been considered in the context of the 

requirements placed on the Council by Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998, namely the duty on the Council to exercise its functions with due regard to 
the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it 
reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area.  It is not considered that 
the contents of this report have any such effect.  
 

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION  
168. The application site is part of an area identified as employment land and therefore 

the proposed development is a departure from the local development plan. 
However, Planning law (S.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) supports the plan led 
system providing that planning decisions should be “genuinely plan-led” (NPPF 
para 15). 
 

169. In this instance, it is recognised and accepted that it is unlikely that the site will be 
an attractive option for B1, B2 or B8 operators having taken into account the 
marketing history of the site, land contamination and viability issues. However, any 
proposal for a retail development must be considered against the two principal 
national policy tests within the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 relating to 
the sequential approach to development and to impact, alongside all other material 
planning considerations. 
 

170. Nexus Planning, an expert and independent retail consultant has advised that the 
proposed development meets the sequential test but fails to conform to the 
requirements of the retail impact test as the proposal will divert material levels of 
trade from existing food retailers at West Park local centre and Cockerton district 

Page 51



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

centre. The advice is that the vitality and viability of Cockerton is particularly 
susceptible to out of centre competition and that the proposal would jeopardise the 
ongoing operation of existing in-centre food stores, most particularly, the larger of 
the two Co-ops, which is situated at Woodland Road.  The loss of the larger Co-op 
would be particularly problematic given its anchor role within the centre. 
 

171. The failure of the proposal to comply with key national and development plan retail 
policies is clearly an important factor in determining the application.  Indeed, 
paragraph 90 of the NPPF indicates that, where an application fails to satisfy the 
sequential test or is likely to have a significant adverse impact on a defined centre, 
it should be refused.  However, this direction cannot extinguish the requirement set 
out in statute to first consider development plan policy and then all other material 
considerations in assessing the ‘planning balance’ when making a decision (S.38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
 

172. When considering this application, as well as recognisng the limited likelihood of 
the site being used for employment purposes, some weight also has to be given to 
the fact that the proposal will bring a vacant brownfield site back into active use, the 
development will result in economic benefits and job creation, additional retail 
facilities at the application site would result in some qualitative improvement in the 
local food retail offer; a Lidl and Home Bargains trading in tandem would reduce 
some residents’ need to travel further afield to source some main food shopping 
and day to day comparison goods; there are no other sequentially preferable sites 
and the development does not raise any development management concerns over 
matters such as highway safety; residential amenity flood risk etc. 
 

173. However, the above does not outweigh the concern that the applicant has failed to 
demonstrate that there would be no significant adverse impact arising at Cockerton 
district centre as a consequence of the proposal and the development does not 
accord with the requirements of NPPF and the local development plan. As a result, 
the planning application is recommended for refusal for the reason set out below. 
 

THAT PLANNING PERMISSION BE REFUSED FOR THE FOLLOWING REASON 
 

1. In the opinion of the local planning authority, the planning application has failed 
to demonstrate that there would be no significant adverse impact on the viability 
and vitality of Cockerton District Centre. The local planning authority consider 
that the proposal is contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
(paragraphs 88 and 89) and Saved Policy S10 (Safeguarding the District and 
Local Centres) of the Borough of Darlington Local Plan 1997 

Page 52



1
1

Shelters

1

3
4

CW

Hall

53.4m

Allot Gdns

S M

53.2m

ARRAS CLOSE

1
9

1

32

1
5

Tank

1 1

3
9

E l

Sub Sta

5

5

3
5

House

St a

Sub Sta

7

LANE

2

L B

Westgate

FAVERDALE

Sub

W
E

S
T

E
R

H
O

P
E

C
O

U
R

T

56.7m

3
9

3
8

1
9

1a

2
5

Path (um)

Norward

H
E

IM
C

L

El Sub Sta

6 6

192

1
1

W
EST AUCKLAND

ROAD

S M

El Sub Sta

210

1

2
9

FAVERSHAM PARK

1
4

58.2m

24

4
8

1

FA
V

E
R

D
A

L
E

R
O

A
D

FAVERDALE WEST

OMOTION

3
1

204

1
to

9

S M

Balancing Ponds

14

3 6

2
5

2 9

2
7

4
9

Mast

ADIS
E

W
AY

1 0

5

2 3

House

C
F

4
0

9

1
1

2 4

35

1
5

3

9

60.4m

Path (um)

Tank

1
9

1
2

1
5

1 4

206

1 0

2
8

Carisbrooke

Gas Gov

E l

St a

12

1

Stead House

Sub

E l

2

16

Ward Bdy

C F

5 0

Shelter

1
8

1

6

3

3

4
7

W
E

S
T

G
A

T
E

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

1 4

WESTGATE ROAD

2
6

2

E l

PLANNING REF No: 18/00694/FUL

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

© Crown copyright.  All Rights Reserved.  Licence Number 100023728.  2020

SCALE 1:2500
.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 3 August 2020 

by Chris Baxter BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  8 September 2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/N1350/W/20/3248267 

Land adjacent to 31 Pendower Street, Darlington DL3 6ND 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Tim Wilks against the decision of Darlington Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 19/00695/FUL, dated 22 July 2019, was refused by notice dated  
13 September 2019. 

• The development proposed is described as “Residential development comprising 2 No 
dwellings and 1 No studio on the lower ground level and associated parking and 
communal storage area.” 

 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issues 

2. The main issues are the whether the proposal would preserve or enhance the 

character or appearance of the Northgate Conservation Area; and the effect of 
the proposal on trees. 

Reasons 

Conservation Area  

3. The appeal site is described as a derelict brownfield site located on Pendower 

Street, adjacent to Cocker Beck and sits within the Northgate Conservation 
Area (NCA). 

4. In accordance with the duty imposed by section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed 

Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 I am required to pay special 

attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 

appearance of the conservation area.  Moreover, the National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework) states that when considering the impact of new 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 

should be given to the asset’s conservation.  

5. The NCA, within the locality of the appeal site, is characterised by the mature 

trees around Cocker Beck providing a secluded and leafy riverside setting for 
the Beck and surrounding properties. In my view the significance of the NCA in 

this location derives from the fine landscape setting of the Cocker Beck within a 

wider more varied urban context. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/N1350/W/20/3248267 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. The proposal, whilst reflective in design, style and materials of nearby 

properties, would be a prominent structure that would dominate the existing 

landscaping that surrounds the Cocker Beck. The appellant has indicated that 
there are no trees on the appeal site, however there are large mature trees 

within close proximity to the site and the proposal. Given the proposals size 

and location, it would significantly detract from the existing landscape setting 

and be harmful to the character of the area. 

7. The site is described as a derelict eyesore with remnants of demolished 
buildings, including garages and concrete bases. The existing urban elements 

on the site are small scale whereas the proposal would be large and a 

significant intrusion into the natural landscape environment. 

8. The proposed development would not preserve or enhance the character and 

appearance of the NCA. The proposal would be contrary to Policies CS2 and 
CS14 of the Darlington Local Development Framework Core Strategy 2011 and 

the Framework which seeks development to achieve high quality, sustainable 

design and protect buildings, their settings and features of local importance in 

Conservation Areas. 

Trees  

9. There are no trees within the appeal site however, there are mature trees 

which are in close proximity to the site with some of these trees being in the 
NCA and some covered by Tree Preservation Orders. 

10. The Council’s Senior Arboricultural Officer has raised concerns that the trees 

have the potential to reduce natural daylight into the proposed buildings which 

would lead to pressure from future occupants to remove or prune the trees. 

11. The windows in the rear of the properties which are into habitable rooms would 

be in close proximity to the trees. Given the orientation of the proposal and the 

location of the proposed windows in relation to the trees, the rooms with north 
facing windows would have reduced levels of natural light. 

12. There is an absence of convincing evidence that the proposed dwellings can be 

constructed within close proximity to the trees, there is considerable doubt in 

my mind as to whether the development can be adequately constructed 

without the potential of harming the trees. 

13. On the evidence that is before me, I am not convinced that the proposed 

development could be constructed without leading to harm to the trees. The 
proposed development would be contrary to Policy E12 of the Darlington Local 

Plan 1997 and Policy CS14 of the Darlington Local Development Framework 

Core Strategy 2011 which seeks development to take account of trees and 
promote local character. 

14. Cocker Beck and existing retaining walls on the site are likely to act as a barrier 

and deterrent in terms of the root growth of the trees. The appellant has 

indicated that the tree canopy skyline would not be affected, that any future 

request to prune trees would be controlled by the Local Planning Authority and 
also that a previous appeal decision1 only referred to trees within the site. 

Nevertheless, these matters do not outweigh the harm I have identified above. 

 
1 Planning Inspectorate Reference Number: APP/N1350/W/15/3141224 

Page 56

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/N1350/W/20/3248267 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Other matters  

15. The proposal would be an efficient use of previously developed land by 

introducing family accommodation that would contribute to existing housing 

stock and be close to social and community facilities and services. The 

appellant has indicated that the proposal would remove anti-social behaviour 
from the site. These benefits however, would not outweigh the harm I have 

identified in the main issues. 

Conclusion 

16. I conclude that for the reasons given above, the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Chris Baxter 

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 57

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decisions 
Site visit made on 10 August 2020 

by F Cullen  BA(Hons) MSc DipTP MRTPI IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 15 September 2020 

 

Appeal A Ref: APP/N1350/W/19/3240922 

1 Skinnergate, Darlington DL3 7NB 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Pearson, Number One Bar and Coffee House against the 

decision of Darlington Borough Council. 
• The application Ref: 19/00291/FUL, dated 28 February 2019, was refused by notice 

dated 27 September 2019. 
• The development proposed is described as ‘removal of roof covering and internal 

alterations to form external terrace at Number One Bar, 1 Skinnergate, Darlington.’ 
 

 

Appeal B Ref: APP/N1350/Y/19/3240925 

1 Skinnergate, Darlington DL3 7NB 

• The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 against a refusal to grant listed building consent. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Pearson, Number One Bar and Coffee House against the 
decision of Darlington Borough Council. 

• The application Ref: 19/00292/LBC, dated 28 February 2019, was refused by notice 

dated 27 September 2019. 
• The works proposed are described as ‘removal of roof covering and internal alterations 

to form external terrace at Number One Bar, 1 Skinnergate, Darlington.’ 
 

Decisions 

1. Appeal A – the appeal is dismissed. 

2. Appeal B – the appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters  

3. These decisions address both planning and listed building consent appeals for 

the same site and for the same scheme. The remit of both regimes is different, 

and the main issues identified below relate to either the planning appeal 
(Appeal A), the listed building appeal (Appeal B), or both. To reduce repetition 

and for the avoidance of doubt, I have dealt with both appeals together within 

a single decision letter.  

4. The date of the Darlington Local Development Framework Core Strategy (DCS) 

is stated in the Council’s decision notices as both 2011 and 2014. It has been 
confirmed by the Council that the correct date of the DCS is 2011. 

5. The proposal was revised during the determination of the applications. 

Amended plans and additional information were submitted to the Council and 

Page 59

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/N1350/W/19/3240922, APP/N1350/Y/19/3240925 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

formed the basis of the Council’s decisions1. As part of the appeals, the 

appellant has submitted revised images which were not subject to 

consideration by the Council during the determination of the applications2. The 
changes as shown on Proposed Model Nos 1-7 comprise the retention of the 

existing metal ventilators and the colour treatment of the exposed roof 

structure and proposed metal framework.  

6. The Council has had the opportunity to comment on these changes as part of 

the appeals. Having regard to the Wheatcroft Principles3, I do not consider that 
accepting these images would deprive those who should have been consulted 

on the changed works of the opportunity of such consultation. However, as 

they are montage images and not scaled plans/drawings, for the avoidance of 

doubt, I have determined the appeals on the basis of the amended plans and 
additional information which formed the basis of the Council’s decisions, but 

also had regard to the revised images submitted as part of the appeals.  

Main Issues 

7. The main issues are the effect of the proposal on: the special interest of the 

Grade II listed building, No 1 Skinnergate; the character and appearance of the 

local area, having regard to whether it would preserve or enhance the 

character or appearance of the Darlington Town Centre Conservation Area; 
and, the setting of the Grade II* listed building, Friends Meeting House, with 

regard to noise.  

Reasons 

8. No 1 Skinnergate (No 1), occupies a highly prominent position on the corner of 

Skinnergate and Coniscliffe Road within a predominantly commercial area of 

Darlington town centre. It dates from the late 19th century and is  
Grade II listed (listed as Lloyds Bank). It is located within the Darlington Town 

Centre Conservation Area (DCA) and nearby, to the north and north-west, is 

the Grade II* listed Friends Meeting House (Meeting House) and associated 

burial ground.  

9. The Heritage Assessment submitted with the appeals states that No 1 was 
designed by George Gordon Hoskins, a prominent local architect, and was 

constructed in 1895-7 as a show room and offices for The North of England 

School Furnishing Company, a renowned business of the time.  

10. No 1 is a large building of three storeys with an attic and a basement. Designed 

in a Queen Anne style, it possesses a curved and highly decorative front 
elevation of brick and terracotta dressings, with a steeply pitched roof of 

Lakeland slate. The size, scale and architectural grandeur of the building cause 

it to be a highly conspicuous structure on the townscape, particularly in views 

looking north along Grange Road and looking west along Houndgate and 
Blackwellgate. Internally, the historic plan form, where it survives, reflects the 

hierarchy and separation of the historic uses within the building. 

 
1 Application Plans/Drawings: L018091-100 Rev B First Floor Plan as Proposed; L018091-101 Rev B Second Floor 

Plan as Proposed; L018091-102 Intermediate Floor Plan as Proposed; L018091-103 Rev B Section as Proposed; 
L018091-104 Rev A Rear Elevation as Proposed; L018091-105 Proposed Waterproofing; L018091-106 External 

Concept Imagery; and L018091-107 Internal Concept Imagery. 
2 Revised Images: Proposed Model Nos 1-7. 
3 Bernard Wheatcroft Ltd v SSE [JPL 1982 P37]. 

Page 60

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/N1350/W/19/3240922, APP/N1350/Y/19/3240925 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

11. At the back of the building is a space that was the ‘Educational Stock Room’ 

(Stock Room) and which is the subject of the appeals. Originally it was a 

double-height space with a viewing gallery that was accessed by two externally 
projecting stairwells with circular staircases. It has been altered in the past, 

including the insertion of a floor, the removal of one of the stairwells and the 

insertion of windows and fire doors. However, key features of special 

architectural or historic interest survive in situ, including, one of the stairwells/ 
staircases, a large arched window, sizeable rooflights, decorative timber ceiling 

and metal ventilators.  

12. At present, the ground floor of No 1 is in use as a bar and the basement is in 

use as office space, storage and toilets. The rest of the building is vacant. In 

2016 planning permission and listed building consent were granted for the 
conversion of the first and second floors to form seven apartments, two of 

which are proposed to be located within the Stock Room4. This approved 

scheme has commenced and it is agreed by the main parties that the 
permission and consent are extant.  

13. From the evidence available to me, I consider that the special interest and 

significance of No 1 to be largely derived from its historical associative value 

with G G Hoskins and The North of England School Furnishing Company; along 

with its historical illustrative value, aesthetic designed value and communal 
value as a late 19th century, landmark, commercial building and important 

employer within Darlington.  

14. No 1 has a pleasing arrangement with elaborate detailing and a distinctive 

roofscape. This, in conjunction with surviving historic fabric and remnants of 

the building’s historic plan form, make notable contributions to the building’s 
historical and aesthetic values and thus its special interest and significance.  

15. The DCA encompasses the historic core of Darlington. The character and 

appearance of the DCA is derived, in part, from the surviving elements of its 

historic street pattern and the many fine historic public and commercial 

buildings which are constructed of traditional materials, including ashlar stone, 
red brick, natural slate and pantiles. The age, former use, form, design and 

materials of No 1, cause it to make an important contribution, historically and 

aesthetically, to the character and appearance of the DCA as a whole and, 

thereby, to its significance as a designated heritage asset.  

16. The Grade II* listed Meeting House with its associated burial ground to the 
rear, is a short distance away and visible from the Stock Room at the rear of 

No 1. From the evidence submitted and insofar as it pertains to the appeals, I 

find that the special interest and significance of the Meeting House largely 

relate to its historical associative and illustrative values, aesthetic designed 
value and communal value as a historic building and burial ground linked with 

the Quaker religious movement.  

17. I am mindful of the National Planning Policy Framework’s (the Framework) 

definition of ‘setting’ as being the surroundings in which a heritage asset is 

experienced, the extent of which is not fixed and may change over time. The 
associated burial ground of the Meeting House is an integral part of the listed 

building’s setting. It is bordered by a tall wall and additionally screened by 

mature trees. I was unable to access the burial ground on my site visit, but it 

 
4 Application Refs: 16/00442/FUL and 16/00443/LBC. 

Page 61

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/N1350/W/19/3240922, APP/N1350/Y/19/3240925 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

would be reasonable to conclude that this formal enclosed space provides an 

oasis of calm within Darlington’s bustling town centre and that this contributes 

to the special interest and significance of the Meeting House. 

18. The proposed formation of an external terrace within the Stock Room would 

involve the removal of three quarters of the existing roof covering along with 
three of the timber ceiling panels to the flat section along the central line of the 

roof. Access to the terrace would be gained via the existing spiral staircase and 

a glazed lobby would be installed at the head of the stairs. A metal framework, 
which would mimic the design of the timber ceiling panels, would be installed. 

The later windows would be retained and the modern fire doors would be 

infilled. The retained fabric would be weatherproofed. The appellant has 

confirmed that the existing metal ventilators and internal plaster could be 
retained and controlled by condition.  

19. Paragraph 193 of the Framework advises that when considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of designated heritage assets, great 

weight should be given to their conservation. Paragraph 194 goes on to advise 

that significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the 
heritage asset or development within its setting and that this should have clear 

and convincing justification.   

20. The proposal would involve the permanent and damaging loss of a considerable 

amount of historic fabric relating to an important space within No 1 and key 

features of intrinsic architectural and historic merit. Furthermore, although the 
exposed structural elements would be weatherproofed, I am not convinced that 

this process would prevent the remaining historic fabric from being susceptible 

to future decay and loss. 

21. I recognise that the structural frame of the roof would be preserved and I note 

the appellant’s willingness to retain the metal ventilators and wall plaster, and 
to colour the remaining structure and proposed metal framework a ‘more 

recessive’ shade. Nonetheless, the tangible solidity and physical presence of 

the building’s distinctive slate roof and rooflights would be lost, and the 
surviving skeleton and features of interest would appear peculiar and 

disconnected to the rest of the structure in both form and function. Moreover, 

even though the proposed metal framework would reflect the timber ceiling 

panels, it would be a poor and inappropriate substitute for the original feature. 

22. I acknowledge that the rear of the building is a secondary elevation which is 
less publicly visible and that it is read in conjunction with adjacent urban 

features such as an anti-climb fence and extraction equipment. Nevertheless, 

the building and roofscape can be viewed from a publicly accessible lane to the 

north of St Augustine’s RC Church. Therefore, given the extent and nature of 
the proposed development and works, combined with any associated 

commercial lighting, the proposal would be unduly visible along the roofscape 

at the rear of No 1 when viewed from this public route.  

23. In these respects, the proposal would markedly erode No 1’s historic and 

architectural integrity, weaken its heritage values and harm its identified 
special interest and significance. Furthermore, in my judgement, if the special 

interest and significance of No 1 are harmed in this way, it follows that there 

would be some residual and incremental harm to the character and appearance 
of the local area, and thus it would not preserve or enhance the character or 

appearance of the DCA as a whole.  

Page 62

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/N1350/W/19/3240922, APP/N1350/Y/19/3240925 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

24. Turning to the effect of the proposal on the setting of the Grade II* listed 

Meeting House, I accept that the open air nature of the terrace would 

potentially increase the general noise levels within the vicinity of the Stock 
Room. However, the Meeting House and associated burial ground are located 

centrally within the town and, as such, are exposed to a commercial noise 

environment throughout the day. In view of the proposed opening days / hours 

of the terrace and the willingness of the appellant to accept a condition which 
would control the playing of amplified music to certain hours, I do not consider 

that the potential additional noise generated by the proposal, over and above 

the existing noise environment, would affect the setting of the Meeting House 
to a harmful degree. On this basis, it would preserve the setting of this listed 

building and the contribution it makes to its significance. 

25. Taking all of the above into account, I find that the proposal would fail to 

preserve the special interest of No 1 and would have a harmful effect on the 

character and appearance of the local area, which would neither preserve or 
enhance the character or appearance of the DCA. As a result, the proposal 

would harm the special interest and significance of these designated heritage 

assets. This harm is acknowledged by the appellant in the Heritage Statement 

and Appeal Statement. However, I find that the proposal would preserve the 
setting of the Meeting House, with regard to noise. Nevertheless, a lack of 

harm in this regard does not amount to a consideration in support of the 

appeals. 

26. With reference to Paragraphs 195 and 196 of the Framework, in finding harm 

to the significance of designated heritage assets, the magnitude of that harm 
should be assessed. Given the extent and relatively localised nature of the 

proposed development and works, I find the harm to be ‘less than substantial’ 

in this instance but, nevertheless, of considerable importance and weight. 
Under such circumstances, Paragraph 196 advises that this harm should be 

weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, which includes securing the 

building’s optimum viable use.   

27. I acknowledge that the proposal would facilitate public access into, and the 

reuse of, this currently vacant space. In addition, entry into the Stock Room via 
an original circular staircase would be in keeping with the building’s historic 

plan form. This, in conjunction with the proposed themed ‘Educational Stock 

Room’ fit-out of the space and interpretation panels, would have the potential 
to enhance the public’s understanding of the history and significance of this 

heritage asset and be of public benefit.  

28. Nonetheless, I consider that it has not been adequately demonstrated that the 

same public benefits could not be achieved by a less harmful scheme. 

Furthermore, there is no mechanism before me that would secure any 
interpretation within the space. 

29. The appellant asserts that the proposal would deliver the continued economic 

viability of the existing business, maintaining the optimum viable use of the 

building as a bar and allowing it to compete in the market with provision of 

outdoor space, which would, in turn, contribute to the local economy.  

30. However, no substantive evidence has been provided which verifies the need 

for an outdoor terrace as part of the business, particularly one which I note the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer has commented, could not be legally 

used as a smoking area. Moreover, there is no information before me which 

Page 63

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/N1350/W/19/3240922, APP/N1350/Y/19/3240925 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

confirms that the optimum viable use of No 1 as a commercial bar would be 

jeopardised or would cease if the appeals were to fail and the proposal was not 

implemented.  

31. I am mindful that the extant scheme is a potential fallback position. However, 

only limited information regarding the approved scheme has been provided, 
namely a floor plan and section relating to the Stock Room. As such, I am not 

able to fully assess the effect of the approved scheme on the Stock Room, the 

roofscape or the townscape at the rear of No 1. Of the information submitted, I 
acknowledge that the extant scheme would involve considerable intervention 

into and alteration of the Stock Room, which would diminish its historic and 

aesthetic values and thus its heritage significance.  

32. However, the appellant has confirmed that it is ‘unlikely that these apartments 

will be implemented’ because of their location above the existing dance floor 
which may make them unattractive to potential buyers. As a result, I cannot 

consider it to be a realistic or probable prospect that this part of the extant 

scheme would be implemented should the appeals be dismissed. Nor am I 

wholly convinced that it would be appreciably more harmful than the scheme 
before me now. These considerations limit the weight that I can attach to it as 

a fallback position. 

33. I accept that if the appeals are to be dismissed then the future of the vacant 

Stock Room is uncertain and there is a risk its condition could continue to 

worsen. However, there is limited value in securing a new use for part of a 
designated heritage asset if, in doing so, the proposed development and works 

compromise its conservation to an unacceptable degree and do not conserve it 

in a manner appropriate to its significance. Consequently, in giving 
considerable importance and weight to the identified harm to the significance of 

the designated heritage assets of No 1 and the DCA, I find that this would not 

be outweighed by the public benefits arising from the proposal.  

34. Given the above and in the absence of sufficient public benefits that would 

outweigh the harm found, I conclude that the proposal would fail to preserve 
the special interest of the Grade II listed building No 1 and would have a 

harmful effect on the character and appearance of the local area, which would 

neither preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the DCA. Although 

I have found that the proposal would preserve the setting of the Grade II* 
listed building the Meeting House, with regard to noise, this is a neutral 

consideration in the balance. Overall, the proposal would be contrary to the 

clear expectations of Sections 16(2), 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the provisions within the 

Framework which seek to conserve and enhance the historic environment.  

35. The proposal would also not accord with Policies CS2 and CS14 of the DCS, 

insofar as they seek to reflect and/or enhance Darlington’s distinctive built and 

historic characteristics that positively contribute to the character of the local 
area and its sense of place; and, protect and, where appropriate, enhance the 

distinctive character of the Borough’s built historic townscapes, including 

protecting, enhancing and promoting the quality and integrity of Darlington’s 
distinctive designated built heritage. As a result, the proposal would not be in 

accordance with the development plan. 

 

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/N1350/W/19/3240922, APP/N1350/Y/19/3240925 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

Other Matters 

36. My attention has been drawn to the permission granted for an outdoor terrace 

at the Hash Bar at 14 Coniscliffe Road5, near to the appeal site, which was not 

considered by the Council to have an adverse impact on the setting of the 

Grade II* listed Meeting House. However, as I have accepted that the proposal 
would preserve the setting of the Meeting House, this matter is not 

determinative.  

37. I am aware that Historic England passed comment on the proposal to the 

Council’s specialist officers and that no objections were raised in relation to 

Environmental Health and Highways matters. Nevertheless, these are neutral 
considerations in the balance and do not outweigh the harm I have found. 

38. I note the appellant’s comments that the Council did not give him an 

opportunity to resolve certain matters pertaining to the proposal prior to 

refusing the applications. However, it is not within the remit of the appeals 

process for me to comment on such matters. 

Conclusion – both appeals 

39. For the reasons given above, I conclude that both Appeal A and Appeal B 

should be dismissed. 

F Cullen 

INSPECTOR 

 
5 Application Ref: 16/00368/FUL. 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To Approve the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on 2 September 2020
	5 Applications for Planning Permission and Other Consents under the Town and Country Planning Act and Associated Legislation
	5(a) 182 Northgate, North Lodge, Darlington
	20_00266_FUL_Agenda_Location_Plan

	5(b) Vantage Point Site, Faverdale, Darlington
	18_00694_FUL_Agenda_Location_Plan

	8 Notification of Decision on Appeals
	Appeal Decision - 3240922 (1900291FUL)

	10 Complaints Received and Being Considered Under the Council's Approved Code of Practice as of 18 September 2020 (Exclusion Paragraph No. 7)
	Item 10 - Planning_Enforcement_Report


